Emotionally Focused Therapy With Couples Impacted by Relationship Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder

by

Justin David Tillyer

A Capstone Research Project submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Counselling (MC)

City University in Canada

Vancouver, BC

April 2024

APPROVED BY

Alicia Spidel, M.A., R.C.C., Ph.D., Capstone Advisor, Master of Counselling Faculty

Bruce Hardy, Ph.D., Faculty Reader, Master of Counselling Faculty

School of Health and Social Sciences

Abstract

Relationship Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder (ROCD) is a relatively-novel and unknown theme of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder (OCD) marked by obsessions and compulsions focused upon important figures in sufferers' lives as well as their relationships with them. Despite the documented impacts of this condition on sufferers, their romantic partners, and their relationships with one another, recommendations for its treatment have focused almost exclusively on the mitigation of the former's symptoms. Accordingly, this capstone research project aims to improve therapists' awarenesses and understandings of ROCD and, thus, their abilities to treat this condition by reviewing the literature on its symptoms, epidemiology, etiology, impacts, and treatment. Additionally, it attempts to enhance couples therapists' abilities to support clients impacted by ROCD by providing an overview of the literature on Emotionally Focused Therapy (EFT) as well as recommendations for how this modality might best be conducted with this population. Such recommendations include the use of EFT as an adjunct to individual ROCD treatment and specific ways in which practitioners might leverage knowledge of this disorder as they conduct assessment, establish the therapeutic alliance, and consult on process with clients, as well as mitigate potential issues of symptom contagion and accommodation.

Keywords: relationship obsessive-compulsive disorder, relationship-centered obsessive-compulsive symptoms, partner-focused obsessive-compulsive symptoms, emotionally focused therapy, relationship distress

Acknowledgments

I would like to acknowledge a number of people, without whom the completion of this project would not have been possible:

To the scholars and practitioners who have centred Relationship Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder (ROCD) in their work, thank you for not only benefiting those impacted by this condition, but for paving the way for my own exploration of this issue. Likewise, to those who have contributed to the development of Emotionally Focused Therapy (EFT), thank you for providing a therapeutic framework through which couples, including those negatively affected by ROCD, might be supported.

To Alicia Spidel, thank you for the generosity of your wisdom, time, and energy, both as an instructor and advisor. Your efforts have been instrumental in keeping me grounded throughout the completion of this project and it has been an absolute pleasure working with you.

To my fellow members of CityU's BC23a cohort, thank you for the authenticity, vulnerability, and thoughtfulness you demonstrated throughout the program. I am incredibly proud, not only of each and every one of you, but of the community we created together, and it has truly been an honour to have been on this journey with you all.

To my amazing friends and family, thank you for your encouragement as I have pursued this degree and a career in counselling. I feel incredibly blessed and privileged to have had your support and to now be able to pay it forward through my work in the community.

To Mom, Dad, Curt, Chloé, Heather, Brent, and Carson, thank you, as always, for your unconditional love and support. Mom and Dad, I will be eternally grateful for the overwhelming sacrifices you have made for me over the course of my life, particularly in prioritizing my education. I also cannot thank you enough for teaching me, from a very young age, the importance of caring for others, as well as how powerful it can be to engage with and vulnerably share our emotional experiences with those around us.

Finally, to Jocelyne, thank you for being everything that I could have ever asked for in a partner. I may never be able to properly express how lucky I am to have learned from and grown alongside you over the past 18 years. The strength, determination, and resilience you have exhibited as you have reached for your own goals has been a constant source of awe and inspiration as I have worked towards this dream of mine. While I will be forever indebted to you for your boundless love, support, guidance, humour, patience, and sacrifice, particularly over the past three years, I promise that I will spend the rest of my life trying to return the favour. Thank you for everything, my love.

Dedication

In recognition of their bravery and perseverance, this capstone research project is dedicated to those impacted by Relationship Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder (ROCD) and the loved ones who support them.

Table of Contents

Chapter One: Introduction	0
Dysfunctional Appraisal of Cognitive Intrusions in Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder1	0
Overview of Relationship Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder	.2
Purpose of This Project and Contribution to the Field	.3
Theoretical/Conceptual Frameworks1	4
Reflectivity and Positionality Statement	.5
Outline of Capstone Project Chapters1	8.
Definition of Terms	9
Chapter Two: Literature Review	6
Relationship Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder2	6
<i>Symptoms</i>	6
Type I: Relationship-Centered Obsessive-Compulsive Symptoms2	6
Assessment of Relationship-Centered Obsessive-Compulsive Symptoms2	7
Type II: Partner-Focused Obsessive-Compulsive Symptoms	8
Assessment of Partner-Focused Obsessive-Compulsive Symptoms3	0
Comorbidity and Within-Person Contagion	1
Epidemiology3	2
Prevalence and Geographic Distribution3	2
Gender Differences3	2
Onset and Age-Related Differences3	3
Differences According to Relationship Status and Duration3	4

Etiology	35
OCD-Related Maladaptive Beliefs	35
Maladaptive Beliefs About Love and Relationships	36
Catastrophic Relationship Beliefs	36
Dysfunctional Relationship Beliefs	37
Extreme Love Beliefs	38
Sociocultural Influences	38
Self-Vulnerabilities	38
Attachment Insecurity	40
Impacts	41
On Relationship Dynamics	41
Depression, Anxiety, and Stress	42
Shame, Guilt, and Negative Self-Perceptions	43
Sexual Dysfunction	43
Relationship Satisfaction, Quality, and Adjustment	44
Relationship Stability and Between-Partner Symptom Contagion	45
Recommendations for the Treatment of Sufferers	46
Diagnosis and Assessment	46
Cognitive-Behavioural Therapy	48
Psychoeducation	48
Cognitive Restructuring	48
Behavioural Experiments	49

Emphasis on Attachment	50
Delivery via Mobile Apps	50
Provision of Communication and Conflict-Resolution Skills	51
Involvement of the Sufferer's Partner	51
Addressing Symptom Accommodation	51
Addressing Symptom Contagion	52
Pharmacological Approaches	52
Addressing Sexual Dysfunction	52
Additional Recommendations	53
Recommendations for the Treatment of Impacted Couples	53
Summary	54
Emotionally Focused Therapy	54
Development and Philosophical Underpinnings	54
Role of the Therapist	56
The Five Moves of the Emotionally Focused Therapy Tango	56
Move One: Mirroring Present Process	57
Move Two: Affect Assembly and Deepening	57
Move Three: Choreographing Engaged Encounters	57
Move Four: Processing the Encounter	58
Move Five: Integrating and Validating	58
Sequence of Therapy	58
Stage One: De-Escalation of Negative Interaction Cycles	58

Stage Two: Changing Interactional Patterns and Restructuring Attachment	59
Stage Three: Consolidation and Integration	60
Efficacy and Effectiveness	60
Process Research	61
Recommendations for Use With Specific Populations	62
With Attachment-Injured Couples	62
With Gay Couples	63
Summary	65
Chapter Three: Discussion and Applied Practices	66
Emotionally Focused Therapy With Impacted Couples	66
As an Adjunct to Individual Cognitive-Behavioural Therapy	66
Leveraging Knowledge of Relationship Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder	67
Assessment of Presenting Issues	68
Establishment of the Therapeutic Alliance	70
Consulting on Process	71
Elucidating Negative Interaction Cycles	72
Facilitating Attendance to and Deepening of Emotional Experience	73
Fostering Re-Engagement and Modification of Negative Interaction Cycles	74
Addressing Between-Partner Symptom Contagion	74
Addressing Symptom Accommodation	76
Concluding Thoughts	77
References	80

Chapter One: Introduction

Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder (OCD) is a chronic mental condition which is believed to impact up to 2.3% of the global population at some point in their lives (Shavitt et al., 2022). It is also aptly named, given that its hallmark symptoms include obsessions, that is, "recurrent and persistent thoughts, urges, or images that are experienced as intrusive and unwanted" (American Psychiatric Association [APA], 2022, p. 1014-1015), as well as compulsions (i.e., ritualistic behaviours and cognitions aimed at mitigating obsession-related distress) (APA, 2022). Though the specific foci of these symptoms may differ between sufferers, several common presentations of OCD have been identified, including those marked by religious and/or moral scrupulosity, as well as pathological concern about dirt and contamination, responsibility for harm and injury, and perfectionism, symmetry, and completeness (Abramowitz et al., 2010; APA, 2022; Clark & Radomsky, 2014; International OCD Foundation [IOCDF], n.d.). As a result of these symptoms, sufferers may experience significant impairments to their physical, emotional, and mental health, as well as their abilities to function (e.g., at school and/or the workplace) (APA, 2022). Likewise, OCD may negatively impact sufferers' relationships with friends and family, undermining major sources of resilience through which they might otherwise overcome life's challenges (APA, 2022).

Dysfunctional Appraisal of Cognitive Intrusions in Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder

While there are various theories about how OCD symptoms may develop, many scholars subscribe to Salkovskis (1985, 1989, 1996)'s Cognitive Appraisal Model (CAM) (McHugh O'Leary, 2007). According to the CAM, it is not the experience of cognitive intrusions which is pathological, but the tendency of OCD sufferers to dysfunctionally appraise them as presenting a substantial and immediate threat, as this spawns obsessive distress which is then, ironically, sustained and/or worsened through compensatory engagement in compulsions (Salkovskis, 1985, 1989, 1996). The CAM also assumes that this dysfunctional appraisal may be facilitated by various beliefs commonly held by OCD sufferers,

particularly *inflated responsibility* (i.e., for ensuring that harm does not occur to themselves and/or others) (Salkovskis, 1985, 1989, 1996).

Expanding upon this latter assumption, the Obsessive Compulsive Cognitions Working Group (OCCWG, 1997), of which Salkovskis was a member, posited the existence of six *OCD-related maladaptive beliefs* which might foster sufferers' dysfunctional appraisal of intrusions and, thus, their experience of obsessions and compulsions. In addition to the notion of inflated responsibility previously noted by Salkovskis (1985, 1989, 1996), these beliefs included *overimportance of thoughts*, that is, the attribution of significance to intrusions simply because one experiences them, as well as *excessive concern about the importance of controlling one's thoughts*, including these same intrusions (OCCWG, 1997). Likewise, the OCCWG (1997) identified *overestimation of threat* (i.e., of the risks and/or impacts of harm), *intolerance of uncertainty*, and *perfectionism* (i.e., the perception that one can and, thus, should find the ideal way to solve problems to avoid the repercussions of making a mistake).

Scholars have also suggested that, along with the beliefs mentioned above, individuals with OCD may bear certain *self-vulnerabilities* (i.e., features of their self-concepts which may also predispose them to the dysfunctional appraisal of intrusions) (Doron & Kyrios, 2005; Doron, Szepsenwol, et al., 2012; Melli, Aardema, & Moulding, 2016; Moulding et al., 2014). For example, Doron and Kyrios (2005) have noted that sufferers may possess *sensitive self-domains*, that is, aspects of themselves which they consider important (e.g., morals and/or values), but which they also associate with feelings of inadequacy. Consequently, if the content of a given intrusion targets one of these domains, a sufferer may appraise it as threatening their sense of self-worth, leading them to experience significant distress and, thus, engage in compulsions intended to reduce it (Doron & Kyrios, 2005; Doron, Szepsenwol, et al., 2012). However, it has also been noted that this compulsive response may inadvertently highlight the occurrence of intrusions specific to this self-domain in the future, leading to the sufferer's development of related obsessions (Doron & Kyrios, 2005; Doron, Szepsenwol, et al., 2012). Similarly, *fear of self*,

which has been described as concern over "who one might be, or become" (Fernandez et al., 2021, p. 2), is another factor related to the self-concept which may contribute to the dysfunctional appraisal of intrusions (Aardema et al., 2013; Melli, Aardema, & Moulding, 2016) and, thus, constitute a self-vulnerability.

Overview of Relationship Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder

In the late 2000s, scholar-practitioners Guy Doron and Danny Derby recognized that clients were increasingly presenting in their respective clinics exhibiting obsessions and compulsions focused upon important figures in their lives as well as their relationships with them (IOCDF, 2021). Accordingly, they began to interview these individuals in an effort to describe their symptoms and, in doing so, conceptualized them as constituting an as-of-yet undocumented theme of OCD, known as *Relationship Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder (ROCD)* (IOCDF, 2021). However, Derby has noted that the initial description and conceptualization of these symptoms as ROCD can actually be credited to sufferers who, some years prior, had formed online communities within which to discuss their experiences (IOCDF, 2021). In the intervening years, Doron, Derby, and other researchers have continued to examine this condition, developing measures with which to assess its symptoms (Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014; Doron et al., 2016; Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a, 2012b), as well as making recommendations for its treatment (e.g., Doron & Derby, 2017).

Though research suggests that ROCD obsessions and compulsions may revolve around sufferers' relationships with mentors, friends, family (e.g., parents or children), and even deities (Doron & Derby, 2017; Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014; Doron et al., 2017; IOCDF, n.d.; Levy et al., 2020), they have most frequently been documented as targeting their romantic partners and/or their bonds with them (Parlapan Bas, 2019). In such cases, ROCD symptoms typically manifest as obsessive preoccupation with and, thus, compulsive scrutiny of the sufferer's love for their partner, the partner's love for the sufferer, the sufferer's sense that the relationship feels "right," and/or the partner's various qualities (Doron,

Derby, et al., 2012a, 2012b). While such evaluations may seem inherent to the experience of being in a romantic relationship, they are considered pathological symptoms of OCD within this context, given that they occur in response to specific triggers, are often perceived by the sufferer as illogical, and also "impair [their] daily life and relationship quality" (Doron, Derby, et al., 2012b, p. 17), taking up a considerable amount of time within their day (APA, 2022). Likewise, they are experienced as *ego-dystonic* (i.e., in opposition to the sufferer's values and/or typical evaluations of and/or feelings towards their intimate relationship or partner) (Doron et al., 2013). Perhaps unsurprisingly, there is also substantial evidence that ROCD symptoms may negatively impact sufferers' partners and/or their relationships with them (e.g., Cebeci, 2019; Dar-Perl, 2018; Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014; Doron, Derby, et al., 2012b; Kasalova et al., 2020).

Purpose of This Project and Contribution to the Field

Despite the above, ROCD remains relatively understudied (Akkaya & Yılmaz, 2021) and unrecognized by the APA (2022)'s *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (5th ed., text rev.; *DSM-5-TR*) as a formal subtype of OCD. This leads to concerns that therapists may generally be unaware of and/or unfamiliar with this condition and, thus, inadequately prepared to recognize, assess, and/or treat it. Moreover, while recommendations have been made for the treatment of ROCD (e.g., Doron & Derby, 2017), they have almost exclusively focused on the mitigation of sufferers' symptoms, rather than their documented impacts on these individuals' intimate relationships and/or partners.

Accordingly, the purpose of this capstone research project is twofold. First, it aims to legitimize ROCD as a matter of concern amongst therapists by increasing their awarenesses and understandings of this condition and, thus, their abilities to address its impacts on clients. With this purpose in mind, the first section of chapter two comprises a literature review guided by the following research question: what must therapists know about ROCD in order to competently treat those who have been negatively impacted by it?

However, the primary aim of this capstone is to address the gap in the literature pertaining to how ROCD sufferers, their romantic partners, and their relationships with one another might be supported through couples therapy. As such, the second section of chapter two reviews the literature on *Emotionally Focused Therapy (EFT)*, a prominent, evidence-based couples therapy (Beasley & Ager, 2019; Spengler et al., 2022; Wiebe & Johnson, 2016) which may benefit ROCD sufferers and their partners, as it seeks to answer a second research question, specifically: what must couples therapists intending to practice EFT with clients impacted by ROCD know about this modality?

In working further towards this project's main aim, chapter three provides specific recommendations for therapists intending to practice EFT with this population, answering a final research question, namely: how might EFT practitioners best serve couples impacted by ROCD?

Theoretical/Conceptual Frameworks

In answering the above research questions, this project utilizes various theoretical/conceptual frameworks, including the *DSM-5-TR* (APA, 2022)'s definition of OCD as a formal mental health condition, which it applies, by extension, to ROCD. Likewise, it relies heavily upon the aforementioned CAM (Salkovskis, 1985, 1989, 1996), as the vast majority of scholarship on ROCD (e.g., Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a, 2012b) also assumes that this particular theme of OCD stems from the dysfunctional appraisal of cognitive intrusions. As such, chapter two describes many cognitive factors implicated in ROCD's etiology as well as numerous cognitive-behavioural approaches to its mitigation. However, given the dyadic nature of ROCD and the specific focus of this project upon its potential treatment through couples therapy, this examination also privileges a systemic lens, highlighting between-partner interactions as central to the symptoms, etiology, impacts, and treatment of this disorder.

Consequently, only the findings most relevant to the dyadic treatment of ROCD are included in chapter two's literature review.

Additionally, the concept of attachment, as described within Bowlby (1969, 1973, 1980, 1988)'s

Attachment Theory, is woven throughout much of the research on ROCD and, thus, frequently invoked within chapters two and three of this project. According to the tenets of this theory, an infant who receives reliable care from their attachment figure (i.e., primary caregiver) will develop secure attachment and, thus, come to anticipate similar support in the future. By contrast, if they fail to receive such care, they will develop one of two styles of insecure attachment (i.e., anxious or avoidant). Anxious attachment is said to be marked by exaggerated concern about the responsiveness of one's attachment figure and to develop due to the latter's inconsistent provision of care. As a result, anxiously-attached individuals tend to manage emotional distress through maladaptive strategies which hyperactivate the attachment system, actively seeking reassurance and affection from their attachment figures. Avoidant attachment, on the other hand, involves distrust of an attachment figure's ability to provide adequate care due to their consistent unavailability or even abuse of the child. Consequently, when experiencing distress, avoidantly-attached children often engage in maladaptive strategies of emotional regulation which, instead, deactivate the attachment system, minimizing their need for interpersonal support (e.g., by withdrawing from others). Critically, it has also been posited that attachment styles remain largely consistent into adulthood, at which time one's intimate partner generally replaces their childhood caregiver as their attachment figure (Brennan et al., 1998; Mikulincer & Shaver, 2007). Accordingly, one's tendency towards either maladaptive strategy of emotional regulation in early childhood may significantly influence their behaviour within intimate relationships as adults (Brennan et al., 1998; Mikulincer & Shaver, 2007).

Reflectivity and Positionality Statement

My decision to explore this issue and, in doing so, answer the research questions above is, to a great extent, rooted in personal experience. Indeed, I have suffered the ill effects of obsessions and compulsions at several points in my own life, beginning at a very young age. Likewise, I have been fascinated with romantic relationships as a central aspect of the human condition for as long as I can

remember. Consequently, as a therapist, I have always intended to work with fellow OCD sufferers as well as couples to directly benefit these populations. Through the convergence of these two clinical interests, I have also been not only captivated by ROCD as an inherently relational condition since I first became aware of it nearly a decade ago, but dismayed by the lack of scholarly attention paid to the potential amelioration of its impacts on sufferers, their romantic partners, and their relationships through dyadic approaches. Further, my choice to examine EFT as a specific means through which this might be accomplished stems from both my awareness of its strong evidence base as a couples therapy as well as my upbringing in an environment which afforded me the opportunity to witness its tenets (e.g., vulnerable expression of one's emotional experience to others) benefit many people close to me.

As my personal experience has contributed to my passion for this topic, it is also important to address its potential influence on my exploration of it. Indeed, having had firsthand experience with OCD, it is possible that I hold preconceptions about how ROCD, as a specific theme of this disorder, might impact sufferers, their partners, as well as their relationships with one another. Accordingly, within this project, I have done my best to avoid making assumptions about the experiences of those impacted by ROCD and to remain as objective as possible about the information gathered herein. I also acknowledge that, as a practicing therapist, I, like many of my peers, harbour conflicting feelings about the use of medicalized language (i.e., formal mental health diagnoses) and, by extension, diagnostic manuals like the *DSM-5-TR* (APA, 2022). For instance, I know that the ability to label my own obsessions and compulsions as symptoms of OCD was incredibly validating and served to normalize my own experience, thus alleviating much of the stress which these symptoms imposed upon me; however, I also recognize that, for many individuals, these same labels can feel pathologizing and harmful. Likewise, while I concede that formal mental health diagnoses may provide practitioners with a shorthand through which to refer to various symptom presentations, I do not believe that the dissemination of information about their treatment necessarily hinges upon their description within diagnostic manuals.

Indeed, it is my hope that, by making recommendations about the treatment of a condition which does not currently exist within the *DSM-5-TR* (APA, 2022) (i.e., ROCD), this project may be demonstrative of this position. Therefore, throughout this undertaking, I have striven to bear in mind the tension between the potential harm and benefit of utilizing medicalized terminology to describe ROCD sufferers' symptoms, whilst making a conscious decision to do so such that I am able to engage with the existing literature on this condition.

Notably, the relative dearth of such literature in the form of peer-reviewed, academic journal articles has informed my decision to also draw information about ROCD from a variety of alternative sources during the completion of this project. These include interviews and books centring the expertise of clinicians well-versed in the treatment of ROCD as well as theses and dissertations detailing research conducted with sufferers by graduate students under the guidance of doctorate-level supervisors, many of which have been published in languages other than English. There is no question that there is some potential for the information gleaned from these sources to be relatively inaccurate (e.g., due to their comparative lack of academic rigour and/or possible errors in translation); however, I believe that the inclusion of such information is not only warranted by the need to advance scholarship on and, thus, spread awareness of ROCD, but in alignment with Doron and Derby's approach to doing so by privileging information from non-academic sources (i.e., the firsthand accounts of sufferers and expert clinicians who have treated them) (Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a, 2012b; IOCDF, 2021). Further, though I am passionate about couples therapy and particularly optimistic about EFT's ability to mitigate ROCD's impacts on sufferers and their partners, I have made a concerted effort to refrain from blindly trumpeting the possible benefits of such an approach. Instead, I have endeavoured to be cognizant of the potential limitations of couples therapies, including EFT, whilst remaining mindful of the ways in which the challenges imposed by ROCD might be better remedied through individual therapies, explicitly speaking to these understandings in chapters two and three.

As the author of this project, a therapist, and a human being, I also believe that it is critical for me to continuously reflect upon my intersectional identity and its embeddedness within structures of power and oppression. With regard to this specific work, I would like to, first, acknowledge my privilege as a descendant of White, European settlers to so-called Canada who has benefited from the colonization of Indigenous lands. Indeed, I am incredibly grateful to have had the opportunity to complete this project while residing upon the unceded and stolen ancestral territories of the x*maðk**aýam (Musqueam), Skwxwú7mesh (Squamish), and salilwata+ (Tsleil-Waututh) peoples, despite the fact that such efforts may not directly benefit these communities. I would also like to acknowledge that, as a relatively well-educated, married, heterosexual, cisgender person who practices monogamy, I share many identity locations with those who have typically served as participants within studies on ROCD. Accordingly, while my intention with this project is to leverage the power afforded to me to assist an underserved population (i.e., those impacted by ROCD), I recognize that it may do little for those with whom I have less in common (e.g., members of the LGBTQ2S+ community and/or those who practice non-monogamy), despite them being just as worthy of being represented within and, thus, benefitting from research conducted in this area.

Outline of Capstone Project Chapters

The second chapter of this project consists of a literature review, the first section of which focuses on ROCD, beginning with findings related to its symptoms, their assessment, as well as various aspects of its epidemiology. Factors implicated in ROCD's etiology are also examined, followed by its potential impacts on sufferers and their partners. Subsequently, existing recommendations for the treatment of both individuals and couples impacted by ROCD are described.

The second section of this literature review examines EFT, beginning with an overview of its development and philosophical underpinnings, the role of the emotionally focused therapist, and the various interventions they may utilize. Following this, the sequence of EFT is elucidated, along with

findings related to its efficacy and effectiveness. Research on relevant process variables is then discussed, as are recommendations related to the use of EFT with specific populations.

Finally, the third chapter of this project serves as a synthesis of the information detailed in chapter two, taking into consideration the challenges which ROCD sufferers and their partners may face, as well as the various aspects and strengths of the EFT model, to provide practitioners with recommendations on how they might utilize this approach to best support this population.

Definition of Terms

The following definitions are intended to facilitate readers' comprehension of the content covered within this project.

Anxious Attachment

A style of insecure attachment which develops due to the inconsistent responsiveness of one's attachment figure during infancy, resulting in a tendency to regulate emotional distress through hyperactivation of the attachment system (e.g., by seeking reassurance from and/or proximity to their attachment figure) (Bowlby, 1969, 1973, 1980, 1988). Anxious attachment is often operationalized as a construct referred to as *attachment anxiety* within the ROCD literature (e.g., Doron et al., 2013).

Attachment

The evolved emotional bond between an infant and their primary caregiver (Bowlby, 1969, 1973, 1980, 1988). If successfully developed through adequate responsiveness from the latter, an infant is said to develop *attachment security*, contributing to their sense that others are safe and/or trustworthy, thus leading to adaptive patterns of interaction with other close individuals, particularly intimate partners, in later life (Bowlby, 1969, 1973, 1980, 1988; Brennan et al., 1998; Mikulincer & Shaver, 2007).

Attachment Figure

The individual (i.e., primary caregiver) with whom an infant develops an attachment bond, often

replaced in later life by their romantic partner (Bowlby, 1969, 1973, 1980, 1988; Brennan et al., 1998; Mikulincer & Shaver, 2007).

Attachment Injury

An emotionally impactful event often marked by abandonment and/or betrayal (e.g., infidelity) during which one's attachment figure may be unresponsive to their needs, thus challenging their sense that the latter can be trusted and, consequently, the security of their attachment bond (Johnson & Williams-Keeler, 1998; Makinen & Johnson, 2006).

Avoidant Attachment

An insecure attachment style which develops due to the general unavailability or even abuse of an infant by their attachment figure and which is, thus, characterized by attempts to regulate emotional distress through deactivation of the attachment system (e.g., avoidance of and/or withdrawal from the latter) (Bowlby, 1969, 1973, 1980, 1988; Brennan et al., 1998; Mikulincer & Shaver, 2007). Avoidant attachment is often operationalized as a construct referred to as *attachment avoidance* within the ROCD literature (e.g., Doron et al., 2013).

Between-Partner Symptom Contagion

The transmission of ROCD symptoms (e.g., obsessions and compulsions) between a sufferer and their romantic partner upon the latter's exposure to those of the former (Doron, 2017; Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014; Littman et al., 2023).

Catastrophic Relationship Beliefs

Three beliefs (i.e., overestimation of the negative impacts of ending a relationship, remaining in one that is less than perfect, and of not being in one) which may facilitate the dysfunctional appraisal of typical relationship doubts, thus spawning ROCD sufferers' symptoms (Doron et al., 2016; Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a, 2012b). These beliefs are assessed via Doron et al. (2016)'s Relationship Catastrophization Scale (RECATS).

Cognitive Appraisal Model (CAM)

A theoretical model developed by Salkovskis (1985, 1989, 1996) which posits that OCD symptoms emerge due to sufferers' dysfunctional appraisal of commonly-occurring cognitive intrusions as being significantly threatening, leading to their experience of obsessive distress and, in turn, compulsions.

Cognitive-Behavioural Therapy (CBT)

A therapeutic modality informed by research on learning and cognition as well as the assumption that thought, behaviour, and emotion may influence one another (APA, n.d.). CBT seeks to alleviate dysfunction at the level of thought and behaviour through various interventions borrowed from both cognitive and behavior therapy traditions (APA, n.d.)

Compulsions

Repeated behaviours and patterns of cognition which are intended to alleviate, but paradoxically reinforce the distress caused by obsessions, leading to disability and functional impairments in OCD sufferers' lives (APA, 2022). Along with obsessions, compulsions constitute one of two core symptoms of OCD (APA, 2022).

Dysfunctional Relationship Beliefs

Five particular beliefs about relationships identified by Eidelson and Epstein (1982) (i.e., disagreement is destructive, sex must be perfect, men and women are fundamentally different, one should be able to read their partner's mind, and one's partner cannot change) which are believed to contribute to ROCD symptoms (Ghomian et al., 2019a, 2019b, 2021a, 2022a). Dysfunctional relationship beliefs are assessed through Eidelson and Epstein (1982)'s Relationship Beliefs Inventory (RBI).

Emotionally Focused Therapy (EFT)

A time-limited, highly-structured, evidence-based, systemic, and humanistic couples therapy initially developed by Greenberg and Johnson (1988). EFT aims to alleviate relationship distress by

facilitating romantic partners' abilities to engage with and vulnerably share their emotional experiences with one another such that they develop more secure attachment and more adaptive patterns of interaction (Johnson, 2019a, 2019b).

Extreme Love Beliefs

Unrealistic beliefs/ideals about love and romantic relationships (e.g., one should feel consistent euphoria and never be attracted to anyone other than their partner) which may facilitate the emergence of ROCD (Doron & Derby, 2017; Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014). Extreme love beliefs are measured by Doron et al. (2014, as cited in ROCD.net, n.d.-a)'s Extreme Love Beliefs Scale (EXLS).

Fear of Self

A self-vulnerability implicated in the etiology of OCD and ROCD which involves concern about one's true nature and/or the type of person whom they may become in the future (Fernandez et al., 2021). Fear of self may foster feelings of guilt, low worth, and questions about one's morality (Fernandez et al., 2021).

Insecure Attachment

The lack of a secure attachment bond between an individual and their primary caregiver or romantic partner which may result in the former's possession of an anxious or avoidant attachment style (Bowlby, 1969, 1973, 1980, 1988; Brennan et al., 1998; Mikulincer & Shaver, 2007). Insecure attachment is often operationalized as a construct referred to as *attachment insecurity* in the ROCD literature and may represent a particularly strong contributor to the etiology of this disorder (Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a, 2012b; Doron, Szepsenwol, et al., 2012; Doron et al., 2013)

Obsessions

Persistent, unwelcome, and anxiety-provoking cognitive intrusions (i.e., thoughts, images, and/or urges) which spawn compulsions as well as significant disability and functional impairment for sufferers (APA, 2022). Obsessions constitute one of two core symptoms of OCD (APA, 2022).

Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder (OCD)

A chronic mental condition involving distressing obsessions and compulsions which cause significant disability (i.e., take up more than an hour of the day) for sufferers as well as functional impairments in their lives (e.g., in their performance at work) (APA, 2022).

Obsessive Distrust

A specific domain of Partner-Focused Obsessive Compulsive (PFOC) symptoms focused upon the fidelity, trustworthiness, and/or reliability of one's partner (Brandes et al., 2020). Obsessive distrust is assessed through administration of the Obsessive Distrust Inventory (ODIS) (Brandes et al., 2020).

OCD-Related Maladaptive Beliefs

Six maladaptive beliefs identified by the OCCWG (1997) which are believed to contribute to OCD and ROCD symptomatology by exacerbating sufferers' dysfunctional appraisal of cognitive intrusions.

These include inflated responsibility, overimportance of thoughts, excessive concern about the importance of controlling one's thoughts, overestimation of threat, intolerance of uncertainty, and perfectionism (OCCWG, 1997).

Partner-Focused Obsessive-Compulsive (PFOC) Symptoms

One of two distinct types of ROCD symptoms, sometimes referred to as *ROCD Type II*, which involves obsessions and compulsions related to the qualities of one's romantic partner, including their physical appearance, sociability, sense of humour, emotionality, morality, competence, intelligence, trustworthiness, and/or reliability (Brandes et al., 2020; Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a). The severity of Partner-Focused Obsessive-Compulsive (PFOC) symptoms is assessed through administration of the Partner-Related Obsessive-Compulsive Symptom Inventory (PROCSI) (Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a) and the Obsessive-Distrust Inventory (ODIS) (Brandes et al., 2020).

Partner-Value Contingent Self-Worth

A self-vulnerability implicated in ROCD's etiology which involves the derivation of a significant

proportion of one's self-worth from the relative value of their romantic partner (Doron & Szepsenwol, 2015). The value of one's partner, thus, constitutes a sensitive self-domain for individuals who exhibit partner-value contingent self-worth (Doron & Kyrios, 2005; Doron & Szepsenwol, 2015).

Relationship-Centered Obsessive-Compulsive (RCOC) Symptoms

One of ROCD's two distinct symptom types, sometimes referred to as *ROCD Type I*, which is marked by obsessive preoccupation with and, thus, compulsive scrutiny of one's love for their romantic partner, the partner's love for the sufferer, and/or the sufferer's sense that the relationship feels "right" (Doron, Derby, et al., 2012b; Doron, Szepsenwol, et al., 2012). Relationship-Centered Obsessive Compulsive (RCOC) symptom severity is assessed through administration of the Relationship Obsessive-Compulsive Inventory (ROCI) (Doron, Derby, et al., 2012b).

Relationship-Contingent Self-Worth

A self-vulnerability implicated in ROCD's etiology which involves the derivation of a significant proportion of one's self-worth from the quality of their romantic relationship (Doron et al., 2013). The quality of one's romantic relationship, thus, constitutes a sensitive self-domain for individuals who exhibit relationship-contingent self-worth (Doron & Kyrios, 2005; Doron et al., 2013).

Relationship Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder (ROCD)

A relatively-novel, understudied, and unknown theme of OCD not yet formally recognized by the APA (2022) in which sufferers' obsessions and compulsions revolve around close others, particularly romantic partners, and their relationships with them (Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a, 2012b; Doron, Szepsenwol, et al., 2012).

Self-Vulnerabilities

Facets of one's self-concept which may increase their susceptibility to the dysfunctional appraisal of cognitive intrusions and, thus, their development of OCD symptoms (Doron & Kyrios, 2005; Doron, Szepsenwol, et al., 2012; Melli, Aardema, & Moulding, 2016; Moulding et al., 2014). ROCD

sufferers may possess three such self-vulnerabilities, particularly partner-value contingent self-worth (Doron & Szepsenwol, 2015), relationship-contingent self-worth (Doron et al., 2013), and fear of self (Fernandez et al., 2021).

Sensitive Self-Domains

Important aspects of oneself (e.g., morals and values) which are also associated with feelings of inadequacy (Doron & Kyrios, 2005). OCD sufferers may, thus, dysfunctionally appraise intrusions which target these domains as a threat to their self-worth, causing significant distress and, in turn, the development of related obsessions and compulsions (Doron & Kyrios, 2005; Doron, Szepsenwol, et al., 2012). Sensitive self-domains implicated in ROCD's etiology include the quality of one's romantic relationship, leading to relationship-contingent self-worth (Doron et al., 2013), and the relative value of their romantic partner, causing partner-value contingent self-worth (Doron & Szepsenwol, 2015).

Symptom Accommodation

The facilitation of an OCD sufferer's compulsions (e.g., through the provision of reassurance) by another individual which, though intended to alleviate the former's experience of obsession-related distress, may sustain and/or exacerbate it (Abramowitz et al., 2012). Symptom accommodation may represent a significant and central challenge for ROCD sufferers and their partners (Doron & Derby, 2017; Doron, Derby et al., 2012b).

Within-Person Symptom Contagion

The tendency for one's experience of Relationship-Centered Obsessive-Compulsive (RCOC) symptoms to facilitate their development of Partner-Focused Obsessive-Compulsive (PFOC) symptoms and vice versa (Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014).

Chapter Two: Literature Review

Relationship Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder

The first section of this chapter seeks to answer research question one by determining what therapists must know about Relationship Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder (ROCD) in order to competently treat those who have been negatively impacted by it. To do this, it examines findings related to ROCD's symptoms, assessment, epidemiology, etiology, and impacts on both sufferers and their partners, followed by recommended approaches for the treatment of each.

Symptoms

In describing the symptoms of ROCD, scholars have identified two distinct types (Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a, 2012b; Doron, Szepsenwol, et al., 2012).

Type I: Relationship-Centered Obsessive-Compulsive Symptoms. *Relationship-Centered Obsessive-Compulsive (RCOC) symptoms*, which are sometimes referred to as *ROCD Type I*, involve obsessive concern and/or doubts about one's love for their intimate partner, the partner's love for the sufferer, and/or "the «rightness» of [their] relationship" (Doron, Szepsenwol, et al., 2012, p. 73). RCOC obsessions are often triggered by circumstances which provoke sufferers to scrutinize the quality of their intimate relationships (e.g., observation of other couples) and/or their commitment to them (e.g., discussion of marriage) (Doron & Derby, n.d.; Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014). Similarly, dissolution of the partnership and/or exposure to negative emotional states associated with one's experience of it (e.g., boredom) may also serve as triggers for RCOC intrusions (Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014; Misirli & Kaynak, 2023).

In order to manage the distress brought on by RCOC intrusions, sufferers often compulsively avoid these triggers (Doron, Derby, et al., 2012b), for example, by abstaining from socializing with other couples, consuming media depicting romantic relationships, and/or pursuing them entirely (Doron & Derby, n.d.). RCOC symptom sufferers may also practice thought substitution by forcing themselves to

think about pleasant moments in which they were more certain about their feelings for their partners, their partners' feelings towards them, and/or how right the relationship feels (Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014). Likewise, they may engage in compulsive checking by monitoring their internal states, including thoughts, behaviours, emotions, and/or physical sensations (e.g., their level of arousal during intercourse) in attempts to achieve certainty about their intrusive concerns (Boulton, 2020; Derby et al., 2021; Doron & Derby, 2017; Doron, Derby, et al., 2012b). Conversely, those afflicted might turn to external sources of information by seeking reassurance from others (e.g., friends, family, and/or people on The Internet) about whether they are in a good relationship and/or have found the right partner (Doron, Derby, et al., 2012b). Additionally, an RCOC symptom sufferer may take a more direct approach, interrogating their partner about their feelings and/or possible intention of abandoning their relationship (Doron, Derby, et al., 2012b), or by "confessing relationship doubts to close family, friends, or [their partners]" (Littman et al., 2023, para. 10).

Assessment of Relationship-Centered Obsessive-Compulsive Symptoms. RCOC symptom severity is assessed via the Relationship Obsessive-Compulsive Inventory (ROCI), an English language, self-report measure developed by Doron, Derby, et al. (2012b). The ROCI comprises 12 statements indicative of RCOC symptoms which were identified by Doron and Derby through their clinical work with sufferers (Doron, Derby, et al., 2012b), including "I constantly doubt my relationship" (p. 23) and "I keep asking my partner whether she/he really loves me" (p. 23). When assessed by the ROCI, individuals are asked to indicate on a five-point Likert scale how true they perceive a given statement to be relative to their own experience, with zero indicating that a statement is not true at all and four denoting that it is very much so (ROCD.net, n.d.-e). The 12 items on the ROCI are distributed evenly across three factors, each of which assess one of the potential targets of RCOC concerns, thus forming a corresponding, four-item subscale (Doron, Derby, et al., 2012b). Statistical analyses have confirmed this structure, as well as

¹ See https://rocd.net/description-and-norms for ROCI scoring standards.

the construct, convergent, and divergent validity of the ROCI, along with its internal consistency and test-retest reliability (Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a, 2012b). The ROCI has also been translated into a variety of languages, including Hebrew and Spanish (ROCD.net, n.d.-d), Italian (Melli et al., 2012, as cited in ROCD.net, n.d.-d), Dutch (Anholt, 2013, as cited in ROCD.net, n.d.-d), Persian (Atary, 2012, as cited in ROCD.net, n.d.-d), Turkish (Inozu & Tirak, 2015, as cited in ROCD.net, n.d.-d), and Albanian (Tahiri, 2016, as cited in ROCD.net, n.d.-d). Analyses of these translations have confirmed the original three-factor structure of the ROCI and suggested that they can also be considered valid and reliable (Ghomian et al., 2019b; Melli, Carraresi, et al., 2018; Trak & İnözü, 2017; Yılmaz, 2015). Additionally, Ghomian et al. (2021a) have modified the Persian translation, producing the Revised ROCI, which, instead, bears a two-factor structure, with one assessing obsessions related to loving and being loved by one's spouse as well as fixing the relationship, and the other testing for compulsions related to each of these targets. Further, Moulding (2019, as cited in Roncero et al., 2019) has produced an as-of-yet unpublished, six-item version of the ROCI dubbed the Relationship Obsessive-Compulsive Inventory - Short Version (ROCI-S). These revisions appear to demonstrate comparable (Roncero et al., 2019) or even superior validity and reliability (Moulding, 2019, as cited in Roncero et al., 2019) relative to the original ROCI.

Type II: Partner-Focused Obsessive-Compulsive Symptoms. Conversely, *Partner-Focused Obsessive-Compulsive (PFOC) symptoms*, also known as *ROCD Type II*, involve pathological preoccupation with an intimate partner's potential shortcomings (Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a; Doron, Szepsenwol, et al., 2012). While Doron, Derby, et al. (2012a) identified the partner's physical appearance, sociability, sense of humour, emotionality, morality, competence, and intelligence as potential areas of concern for PFOC symptom sufferers, Brandes et al. (2020) subsequently posited that these individuals may also become fixated on their partner's lack of trustworthiness and/or reliability. They have also suggested that preoccupation with these latter two attributes constitutes a unique domain of PFOC obsessions known as *obsessive distrust*, which may also involve worry about the ability

of one's partner to remain faithful to the relationship (Brandes et al., 2020). Further, they have clarified that, while infidelity concerns might also be indicative of obsessive jealousy, the focus in obsessive distrust is not on a potential interloper, but the partner's conduct (Brandes et al., 2020). Like RCOC obsessions, PFOC obsessions occur in response to specific triggers, particularly circumstances which highlight for the sufferer any potential deficits in their partner (Brandes et al., 2020; Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a). For instance, a sufferer's fixation on their partner's potential physical deficits may stem from their observation of undesirable parts of the partner's body or their recognition that they are physically attracted to someone other than their partner (Doron & Derby, 2017; Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014; Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a). In the specific case of obsessive distrust symptoms, triggers may include situations in which the partner must be relied upon to complete a certain task (e.g., a household chore) (Brandes et al., 2020). Doron, Derby, et al. (2012a) have also noted a compounding effect wherein incremental exposure to PFOC triggers may lead sufferers to become increasingly aware of and, thus, impacted by them over time.

Like those who experience RCOC symptoms, sufferers of PFOC obsessions may compulsively avoid their specific triggers (e.g., by refraining from looking at pictures of attractive people on social media) or remember times when they felt less bothered by such concerns (i.e., over their partner's potential faults) (Doron & Derby, n.d.; Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014; Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a, 2012b). They may also engage in compulsive checking of/for these deficits, for example, by scrutinizing why their partners' past relationship(s) failed and/or by testing their partners (e.g., to assess for lack of intellect) (Doron & Derby, n.d.). Additionally, PFOC obsessions may lead sufferers to weigh the value of certain partner qualities against one another (Brandes et al., 2020; Doron & Szepsenwol, 2015) and/or to compare them with those of past and/or potential future partners to determine whether the sufferer can accept them (Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014; Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a). To neutralize PFOC obsessions, sufferers may also seek reassurance from close confidants that, for example, their partners

are smart or trustworthy enough (Brandes et al., 2020; Derby et al., 2021; Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a), or even attempt to modify their partners' shortcomings (e.g., by encouraging them to alter the way they look) (Doron & Derby, n.d.; Littman et al., 2023).

Assessment of Partner-Focused Obsessive-Compulsive Symptoms. The Partner-Related

Obsessive-Compulsive Symptom Inventory (PROCSI) is an accompaniment to the ROCI that, instead, assesses PFOC symptom severity (Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a). Like the ROCI, it is an English-language, self-report measure which also uses a similarly-scored, five-point Likert scale to track participants' responses, but in reference to 24 statements indicative of PFOC symptoms, per Doron and Derby's clinical observations (Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a; ROCD.net, n.d.-c). These statements include "I am constantly bothered by thoughts regarding the flaws in my partner's physical appearance" (Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a, p. 23) and "I keep looking for evidence that my partner is moral enough" (p. 23). The 24 items of the PROCSI are uniformly spread across factors representing the domains of partner deficits initially identified by Doron, Derby, et al. (2012a) (i.e., physical appearance, sociability, morality, emotional stability, intelligence, and competence), thus creating six, four-item subscales. Analyses have also confirmed the PROCSI's structure and that it demonstrates relatively-good validity, internal consistency, and test-retest reliability (Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a).

Like the ROCI, the PROCSI has been translated into several languages, including Hebrew and Spanish (ROCD.net, n.d.-d), Italian (Melli et al., 2012, as cited in ROCD.net, n.d.-d), Persian (Atary, 2012, as cited ROCD.net, n.d.-d), and Turkish (Inozu & Tirak, 2015), with many of these translations also having shown to be relatively valid and reliable (Ghomian et al., 2019a; Melli, Carraresi, et al., 2018; Trak and İnözü, 2017; Yılmaz, 2015). Additionally, as was done with the Persian ROCI, the Persian PROCSI was revised by Ghomian et al. (2022a) to produce the 22-item New PROCSI, which spans the same six factors identified by Doron, Derby, et al. (2012a). Likewise, Moulding (2019, as cited in Roncero et al., 2019)

² See https://rocd.net/procsi-description-and-norms/ for PROCSI scoring standards.

developed the currently-unpublished, yet accurately-named PROCSI - 6-Item Version (PROCSI-Si). Both of these revisions have been found to have similar, if not superior validity and reliability to Doron, Derby, et al. (2012a)'s original PROCSI (Ghomian et al., 2022a; Moulding et al., 2019, as cited in Roncero et al., 2019).

Further, the Obsessive Distrust Inventory (ODIS) (Brandes et al., 2020) is an extension of Doron, Derby, et al. (2012a)'s PROCSI, assessing only the severity of PFOC symptoms pertaining to obsessive distrust. Like the ROCI and PROCSI, it is an English-language, self-report measure which uses a five-point Likert scale to track participants' responses to a series of items derived from clinical experience with ROCD sufferers (Brandes et al., 2020). However, the ODIS taps only a single factor through participants' agreement with eight statements, such as "I'm troubled by doubts regarding my ability to trust my partner" (Brandes et al., 2020, p. 3) and "I look for evidence that my partner is a trustworthy person" (p. 3). Analyses of the ODIS (Brandes et al., 2020) and its lone Turkish translation (Açar, 2022) have supported this one-factor structure and suggested that each version has good construct validity and internal consistency.

Comorbidity and Within-Person Contagion. There is considerable evidence that RCOC and PFOC symptoms are often comorbid with one another. Indeed, while Doron and Derby (2017)'s clinical experience has suggested as much, significant and sometimes strong correlations have been observed between these two symptom types (Abak & Güzel, 2021; Brandes et al., 2020; Doron & Derby, 2017; Doron et al., 2016; Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a; Doron, Mizrahi, et al., 2014; Fernandez et al., 2021; Kuru, 2022; Szepsenwol et al., 2016). Given this, researchers have speculated that a form of within-person symptom contagion might exist, wherein increased concern about a partner's flaws may induce relationship doubts and vice versa (Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014). Longitudinal data seems to support this position, as Doron, Derby, et al. (2012a) found that participants' scores on the ROCI and PROCSI were significantly predictive of one another at nine-week follow-up. Similarly, Szepsenwol et al.

(2016) found that baseline PROCSI scores were significantly predictive of those on the ROCI a year later and that, for individuals in longer relationships, higher baseline ROCI scores significantly predicted lower decreases in PFOC symptoms over that same interval.

Epidemiology

Though development of the ROCI (Doron, Derby, et al., 2012b), PROCSI (Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a), and ODIS (Brandes et al., 2020) has allowed for the measurement of ROCD symptoms, there is still a considerable lack of clarity around the epidemiology of this disorder (Clark, 2019; Tinella et al., 2023).

Prevalence and Geographic Distribution. While it is not yet known how many people may suffer from ROCD (Derby et al., 2021), experts have estimated that it may impact as many as one percent of all Israeli Jews (Doron, 2015, as cited in Derby et al., 2021). Similarly, Bar On (2020) has cited OCD researcher Jonathan Abramowitz as suggesting that five percent of all OCD sufferers may experience clinically significant ROCD symptoms. Regardless, ROCD obsessions and compulsions have been documented in many different countries, including Australia, Great Britain, Turkey, Iran, Italy, Israel, and The United States of America (Doron et al., 2016; Doron, Derby, et al. 2012a, 2012b; Fernandez et al., 2021; Ghomian et al., 2019a, 2019b; Trak & İnözü, 2017, 2019). However, it has also been suggested that their frequency and quality may vary due to differential cultural messaging about the nature of love and intimate relationships (Dar et al., 2021; Ghomian et al., 2021b, 2022a). Unfortunately, few studies have yet examined such cultural influences on ROCD symptom presentation (Akkaya & Yılmaz, 2021; Dar et al. 2021).

Gender Differences. Examination of potential gender differences in ROCD presentation have generally yielded mixed results. Though many studies have failed to find significant variation between men and women in terms of the severity of their RCOC symptoms (e.g., Abak, 2019; Bakçepinar, 2019; Cebeci, 2019; Doron, Derby, et al., 2012b; Doron et al., 2013; Tinella et al., 2023; Toroslu & Çırakoğlu,

2022; Trak, 2016; Yıldırım, 2017), others have noted that men may be significantly more concerned about their love for their partner (Kilic & Altinok, 2021) and less so about being loved by them (Yıldırım, 2018) relative to women. Additionally, while Balcı (2021) initially found no significant differences between the scores of men and women on the ROCI and its three subdimensions, when only those with partners were compared, women exhibited significantly higher doubts pertaining to the rightness of their relationships. The majority of studies examining gender differences in PFOC symptoms have also failed to document any (e.g., Bakçepinar, 2019; Brandes et al., 2020; Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a; Tinella et al., 2023; Toroslu & Çırakoğlu, 2022; Trak, 2016). However, others have found that men experience significantly higher levels of PFOC symptoms both overall (Abak, 2019) as well as within specific domains, for example, those related to their partners' sociability (Abak, 2019) and physical appearance (Abak, 2019; Balcı, 2021; Yıldırım, 2017). Yıldırım (2018) also found that women were significantly more concerned than men about their partners' levels of professional competence and morality.

Onset and Age-Related Differences. While there is little empirical data on the precise age at which ROCD obsessions and compulsions typically emerge (Akkaya & Yılmaz, 2021), observations about individuals who have sought clinical help for their symptoms suggest that they may first become aware of them as young adults (Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014). Ghomian et al. (2022b) have also noted that sufferers may initially dismiss ROCD symptoms as typical relationship concerns and, thus, only present in clinical settings when these begin to impact their partnerships. Additionally, Doron, Derby, and Szepsenwol (2014) have posited that they may first occur early on in a relationship, and/or when one is considering whether to commit to it further (e.g., by getting married).

Research on possible associations between an individual's age and the severity of their symptoms is more fulsome, but also relatively ambiguous. Indeed, some have noted an inverse relationship, wherein, with increasing age, individuals score significantly lower on the ROCI (Balcı, 2021; Doron, Derby, et al. 2012b; Toroslu & Çırakoğlu, 2022; Trak, 2016) and its subdimensions pertaining to

the partner's love and the rightness of the relationship (Balcı, 2021). However, these findings stand in contrast to those which found no significant associations between age and RCOC symptom severity (Doron et al., 2013; Günhan, 2021; Kılıç & Altınok, 2021; Tinella et al., 2023; Yıldırım, 2017). Relative to PFOC symptoms, both Balcı (2021) and Trak (2016) found that scores on the PROCSI waned significantly with age, with Balcı (2021) also noting that scores on its subdimensions representing a partner's competence, emotional stability, and intelligence followed the same pattern. Alternately, many studies have failed to find any significant associations between age and PFOC symptom severity (Brandes et al., 2020; Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a; Günhan, 2021; Tinella et al., 2023; Toroslu & Çırakoğlu, 2022; Trak, 2016; Yıldırım, 2017).

Differences According to Relationship Status and Duration. Findings related to potential associations between ROCD severity and relationship status are also mixed, at best. Indeed, while Doron et al. (2016) found that individuals' ROCI scores did not differ significantly according to whether they were in a relationship, Balcı (2021) found that those who were single did score significantly higher on the ROCI and two of its subdimensions (i.e., concern over being loved by one's partner and the rightness of their relationship). Additionally, Bakçepinar (2019) observed no significant variance in ROCI scores when comparing those who were in relationships, those who were engaged, and those who were married, whereas Abak (2019) noted that the former scored significantly higher than each of the latter two groups. Further, Rezaei et al. (2023) found that married individuals exhibited significantly less-severe RCOC symptoms than those who were unmarried, but in relationships. Regarding PROCSI scores, Doron et al. (2016) found that they were similar for individuals who were single and those who were in relationships, though Balcı (2021) observed that the former scored significantly higher on the PROCSI as well as several of its subscales (i.e., concern over a partner's morality, sociability, emotional stability, and intelligence). Finally, while both Abak (2019) and Bakçepinar (2019) found PFOC symptom severity to be comparable between those who were merely in relationships, those who were engaged, and those

who were married, Rezaei et al. (2023) noted that the latter scored significantly lower on the PROCSI than those who were coupled, but not engaged or married.

Differences in ROCD severity according to relationship duration are similarly unclear. Indeed, many studies have yielded statistically-significant, negative associations between relationship duration and scores on the ROCI (Abak, 2019; Bakçepinar, 2019; Balcı, 2021; Kılıç & Altınok, 2021; Szepsenwol et al., 2016; Tinella et al., 2023; Toroslu & Çırakoğlu, 2022; Trak, 2016) as well as two of its subscales (i.e., concern over being loved by one's partner and the rightness of one's relationship) (Balcı, 2021). Similar associations have also been observed between relationship duration and scores on the PROCSI (Abak, 2019; Bakçepinar, 2019; Tinella et al., 2023; Toroslu & Çırakoğlu, 2022; Trak, 2016) as well as its subscale pertaining to the partner's competence (Balcı, 2021). However, others have found no such links between relationship duration and RCOC (Doron, Derby, et al., 2012b; Günhan, 2021; Yıldırım, 2017), nor PFOC symptoms (Brandes et al., 2020; Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a; Günhan, 2021; Yıldırım, 2017).

Etiology

Numerous factors have been implicated in ROCD's etiology, many of which may be relevant to the treatment of both individuals and couples impacted by this disorder.

OCD-Related Maladaptive Beliefs. Given that ROCD has been conceptualized as a theme of OCD, scholars have proposed that many of the OCD-related maladaptive beliefs identified by the OCCWG (1997) may contribute to its symptomatology (Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a, 2012b). For example, it has been posited that intolerance of uncertainty and perfectionism may specifically contribute to one's doubt that they are in love with their partner and/or that their relationship feels right, while intolerance of uncertainty and overestimation of threat may increase concern that their partner does not love them (Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014; Doron, Szepsenwol, et al., 2012). Additionally, it has been suggested that fixation on a partner's flaws may result from overestimation of threat and perfectionism (Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014; Doron, Szepsenwol, et al., 2012) and that

overimportance of thoughts and excessive concern about the importance of controlling them may underlie attempts to neutralize ROCD intrusions through compulsive behaviours (Doron, Szepsenwol, et al., 2012).

Empirical research suggests that ROCD sufferers do hold such maladaptive beliefs. Indeed, statements provided by self-identified ROCD sufferers (Tsiugaras, 2012) and those meeting the threshold for a clinical diagnosis of this disorder (Ghomian et al., 2021b) appear to bear themes indicative of the majority, if not all of the beliefs noted by the OCCWG (1997). Likewise, several studies have found that scores on various measures assessing the endorsement of OCD-related maladaptive beliefs correlated significantly with scores on the ROCI, PROCSI, New PROCSI, and many of their subscales (Doron et al., 2016; Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a, 2012b; Fernandez et al., 2021; Ghomian et al., 2022a; Melli et al., 2015; Melli, Carraresi, & Doron, 2016; Melli, Bulli, et al., 2018; Trak & İnözü, 2017). Additionally, several developmental models have highlighted OCD-related maladaptive beliefs (e.g., perfectionism and intolerance of uncertainty) as mediating or moderating the relationship between ROCD symptoms and other factors implicated in the etiology of this disorder (e.g., attachment insecurity and early maladaptive schemas) (Toroslu & Çırakoğlu, 2022; Yıldırım, 2018).

Maladaptive Beliefs About Love and Relationships. Scholarship on ROCD has also suggested that certain maladaptive beliefs about love and/or intimate relationships may facilitate the development of this particular theme of OCD by contributing to sufferers' dysfunctional appraisal of "common relationship concerns" (Doron et al., 2016, p. 2).

overestimation of the negative impacts of dissolving a relationship, remaining in one that is imperfect, and/or of being alone (Doron, Derby, et al., 2012b). The first two of these beliefs have been posited to underpin RCOC doubts about the rightness of one's relationship and their love for their partner, while the latter is believed to contribute to concerns about being loved by them (Doron et al., 2016; Doron,

Derby, et al., 2012b). Likewise, it has been stated that various PFOC symptoms may result from overestimating the negative impacts of dissolving one's relationship (Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a) and that fear of regret (Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014) and guilt (Tinella et al., 2023) may exacerbate each of these catastrophic beliefs.

The potential role of catastrophic relationship beliefs in ROCD's etiology is, at this time, unclear. Indeed, after developing the Relationship Catastrophization Scale (RECATS) to assess such beliefs, Doron et al. (2016) found that those clinically diagnosed with ROCD were significantly more likely to overestimate the negative consequences of remaining in an imperfect relationship than those diagnosed with other OCD themes as well as those not diagnosed at all; however, they also found that they were no more likely than either group to overestimate the negative consequences of separating from one's partner and that they did not differ significantly from general OCD sufferers in terms of overestimating the negative consequences of being alone (Doron et al., 2016). Additionally, while several other investigations have found significant correlations between ROCD's two symptom types and these catastrophic beliefs (Di Leonardo, 2018; Fernandez et al., 2021; Melli, Bulli et al., 2018; Melli, Carraresi, & Doron, 2016), their findings have varied in terms of exactly which and to what degree.

Dysfunctional Relationship Beliefs. According to Ghomian et al. (2019a, 2019b, 2021a, 2022a), the five dysfunctional relationship beliefs assessed by Eidelson and Epstein (1982)'s Relationship Beliefs Inventory (RBI) may also facilitate ROCD symptoms. These include the notions that disagreement is destructive to relationships, sex should always be perfect, the sexes are inherently different, partners should be able to read each other's minds, and that they cannot change (Eidelson & Epstein, 1982). In support of these claims, it has been observed that scores on the PROCSI (Ghomian et al., 2019a), ROCI (Ghomian et al., 2019b), Revised ROCI (Ghomian et al., 2021a), and New PROCSI (Ghomian et al., 2022a), as well as the majority of their subscales have correlated significantly and positively with those on the RBI and many of its own subscales.

Extreme Love Beliefs. Researchers have also stated that exaggerated convictions about what constitutes true love, the right relationship, and/or the partner with whom one is meant to be based on the presence of harmony, euphoria, and relationship doubts may facilitate both RCOC and PFOC obsessions (Doron & Derby, 2017; Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014). Such extreme love beliefs are measured by the Extreme Love Beliefs Scale (EXLS), developed by Doron et al. (2014, as cited in ROCD.net, n.d.-a). Though evidence supporting such claims is currently limited, Doron and Derby (2017) have cited unpublished research which allegedly demonstrated positive correlations between extreme love beliefs and ROCD symptoms.

Sociocultural Influences. It is important to note that the maladaptive beliefs about love and intimate relationships described above may be particularly subject to sociocultural influence. Indeed, Lombardi and Rodriguez (2019) have posited that perfectionistic standards and/or intolerance of uncertainty related to intimate relationships and/or partners may be reinforced by societal emphasis on "finding and maintaining a romantic relationship ... [as well as] ... beliefs and expectations about how romantic relationships should be experienced" (p. 186). Likewise, Doron, Derby, and Szepsenwol (2014) have specified that one's need for certainty about their relationship and/or partner as well as endorsement of catastrophic relationship beliefs may be rooted in religious ideals about committing to a single partner for life and/or their mass exposure to alternative partners via social media. Additionally, Lombardi and Rodriguez (2019) have suggested that portrayals of love in popular culture and oft-repeated beliefs about the existence of soulmates may be particularly problematic in this regard. Similarly, Dar et al. (2021) have hypothesized that ROCD may be more common in cultures which emphasize "love, attraction, and excitement towards the partner [one intends] to marry" (p. 10), rather than where marriages are arranged predominantly out of practicality.

Self-Vulnerabilities. Three specific self-vulnerabilities have been implicated in ROCD's etiology, including *partner-value contingent self-worth*, that is, one's belief that "their partner's deficiencies or

flaws ... [reflect] on their own [value]" (Doron & Szepsenwol, 2015, p. 177). Indeed, scores on the Partner Value Contingent Self-Worth Scale (Doron et al., 2014, as cited in ROCD.net, n.d.-b), which assesses the degree to which one may endorse such a notion, have been observed to correlate significantly with those on both the ROCI and PROCSI (Açar, 2022; Trak, 2016; Trak & İnözü, 2019). Likewise, Doron and Szepsenwol (2015)'s observation that participants who scored highly on the PROCSI exhibited significantly greater drops in self-esteem when informed that their partners were less beautiful, intelligent, moral, and/or successful than others suggested that the value of one's partner may, indeed, serve as a sensitive self-domain for those suffering from PFOC symptoms.

Similarly, relationship-contingent self-worth, that is, "self-worth ... strongly dependent on [the quality of one's] relationship" (Doron et al., 2013, p. 435), has also been proposed as a self-vulnerability relevant to ROCD's etiology. Though participants' scores on a measure assessing this contingency of self-worth did not correlate significantly with those on the ROCI, suggesting that the quality of one's relationship may not serve as a sensitive self-domain for ROCD sufferers, they did significantly moderate the relationship between attachment anxiety and ROCD symptoms (Doron et al., 2013). Accordingly, Doron et al. (2013) have posited that the combination of attachment anxiety and relationship-contingent self-worth may constitute a particularly powerful susceptibility to ROCD, which they have dubbed double relationship-vulnerability.

The aforementioned fear of self may also serve as a self-vulnerability which contributes to the presentation of ROCD, predisposing sufferers to "doubts [about] how [they feel] about themselves in a relationship, and/or ... who [they are] as a partner" (Fernandez et al., 2021, p. 7). As such, fear of self may contribute to feelings of guilt, low worth, and immorality, thus driving compulsive behaviour (Fernandez et al., 2021). Indeed, in a single study examining fear of self in relation to ROCD, Fernandez et al. (2021) noted significant, positive correlations between this construct and both RCOC and PFOC symptoms.

Attachment Insecurity. Since ROCD was first described, it has been speculated that insecure attachment may play a central role in its etiology (Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a, 2012b). Indeed, Doron, Szepsenwol, et al. (2012) posited that hyperactivation of the attachment system may facilitate RCOC obsessions and compulsions, with one's reliance upon their partner for support being particularly problematic, given that their presence may also trigger such symptoms. Likewise, they implicated deactivation strategies, particularly projection of one's insecurities onto others, in the development of PFOC symptoms (Doron, Szepsenwol, et al., 2012). Doron et al. (2013) have also stated that insecure attachment may contribute to ROCD's emergence specifically by increasing susceptibility to OCD-related maladaptive beliefs.

A plethora of empirical findings have suggested that such assumptions may be true, with significant, positive correlations having been observed between scores on measures of attachment insecurity and those on the ROCI, PROCSI, and/or their subscales (Balcı, 2021; Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a, 2012b; Güler, 2023; Günhan, 2021; Kabiri et al., 2017; Özel & Karakose, 2023; Rezaei et al., 2023; Trak, 2016; Trak & İnözü, 2017, 2019; Yıldırım, 2018; Yılmaz, 2015). However, avoidant attachment has also been observed to be significantly and negatively associated with RCOC symptoms in some cases (Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a; Trak, 2016). Likewise, only a few studies have produced results supporting Doron, Szepsenwol, et al. (2012)'s assertion that anxious and avoidant attachment may be related to RCOC and PFOC symptoms, respectively (Balcı, 2021; Doron, Derby, et al., 2012b; Rezaei et al., 2023; Trak & İnözü, 2017; Pisheh & Jahed, 2020). Regardless, many researchers have utilized regression analyses to produce developmental models of ROCD in which insecure attachment has played a significant role, in some instances, accounting for the effects of other significant contributors (e.g., high parental overprotection and low parental care) (Trak 2016; Trak & İnözü, 2019). These specific results may not be surprising, given that such parent-child dynamics are said to be instrumental in the formation of attachment styles (Mikulincer & Shaver, 2007). Other models have, instead, highlighted

mediating factors, such as relationship/marital satisfaction (Balcı, 2021; Güler, 2023; Özel & Karakose, 2023) and intention of infidelity (Balcı, 2021), which may explain how insecure attachment contributes to ROCD. Notably, many of these variables, including ruminative thinking (Güler, 2023), reassurance seeking (Yıldırım, 2017), experiential avoidance, and poor emotion regulation (Naji Meydani et al., 2022) have previously been identified as consequences of insecure attachment (Mikulincer & Shaver, 2007). Additionally, maladaptive perfectionism has been noted to mediate the relationship between insecure attachment and ROCD (Yıldırım, 2018), supporting Doron et al. (2013)'s claim that attachment insecurity may bolster endorsement of OCD-related maladaptive beliefs. Several developmental models have also highlighted variables which may significantly interact with insecure attachment to contribute to ROCD, including marital satisfaction (Özel, 2021), partner-value contingent self-worth (Trak & İnözü, 2019), and, as mentioned in the context of double relationship-vulnerability, relationship-contingent self-worth (Doron et al., 2013).

Impacts

Researchers have identified many ways in which ROCD might negatively impact sufferers, their relationships with their intimate partners and, consequently, each member of the dyad.

On Relationship Dynamics. In one of the first published studies on ROCD, Doron, Derby, et al. (2012b) proposed that RCOC obsessions might cause relationship distress by leading both the sufferer and their partner to question their connection with one another. Likewise, they suggested that pathological doubt about being loved by one's partner could precipitate the sufferer's overreliance upon the latter to engage in *symptom accommodation*, that is, to facilitate the sufferer's compulsions, particularly by providing reassurance about their concerns. While Abramowitz et al. (2012) have noted that such behaviour may worsen and/or prolong OCD symptoms, Doron, Derby, et al. (2012b) have stated that, in the specific context of ROCD, it may lead to "a hierarchical relationship structure" (p. 23), wherein the sufferer's partner grows frustrated, angry, and/or withdrawn. Additionally, Doron, Derby, et

al. (2012b) have posited that, over time, the sufferer's symptoms might increasingly irritate their partner, causing "hypersensitive annoyance and disgust" (p. 23) and, ultimately, their rejection of the sufferer, who, in turn, worries further about being abandoned (Doron, Derby, et al., 2012b). Similarly, several other scholars have speculated that ROCD may introduce a novel source of both stress and conflict into relationships (Cebeci, 2019; Kasalova et al., 2020), with Doron, Derby, and Szepsenwol (2014) having stated that these may serve as both consequences and triggers of obsessions. Further, it is thought that the above may result in aggression and even intimate partner violence (Bilge et al., 2022; Brandes et al., 2020; Ghomian et al., 2021b).

Depression, Anxiety, and Stress. A notable amount of research has hinted at ROCD's disabling nature by linking it with the experience of depression, anxiety, and stress. Indeed, Ghomian et al. (2021b) identified statements from ROCD sufferers suggestive of each of these factors, while a multitude of studies have observed significant, positive correlations between ROCD symptom severity and levels of depression (Brandes et al., 2020; Doron et al., 2016; Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a; Doron & Szepsenwol, 2015; Doron et al., 2013; Fernandez et al., 2021; Ghomian et al., 2019a, 2019b, 2021a, 2022a; Parlapan Bas, 2019; Trak, 2016; Trak & İnözü, 2017; Yılmaz, 2015), anxiety and stress (Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a, 2012b; Doron & Szepsenwol, 2015; Ghomian et al., 2019a, 2019b, 2021a, 2022a; Parlapan Bas, 2019; Trak, 2016; Yılmaz, 2015), as well as scores on measures assessing the sum of these constructs (Melli, Bulli, et al., 2018; Melli et al., 2015; Melli, Carraresi, & Doron, 2016; Ghomian et al., 2019a). Some of these associations have also remained significant after controlling for oft-related variables (e.g., general OCD symptoms, self-esteem, and attachment insecurity) (Brandes, 2020; Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a, 2012b). However, such results are not without exceptions, as Doron et al. (2016) noted that individuals diagnosed with ROCD exhibited significantly greater depression than community controls, but not those diagnosed with other forms of OCD. Similarly, Trak and İnözü (2017) failed to find a significant correlation between PFOC symptom severity and stress. Regardless, it is also notable that

Dar-Perl (2018) observed increases in sufferers' ROCD symptoms over a four-month period to significantly correspond with those in their partners' levels of depression and stress.

Shame, Guilt, and Negative Self-Perceptions. Scholars drawing upon clinical experience and qualitative interviews with ROCD sufferers have stated that the latter often experience marked shame and guilt due to their symptoms (Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014; Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a, 2012b; Ghomian et al., 2021b; Rajaee, 2022). Such feelings may specifically stem from their obsessions, consequently facilitating self-criticism (Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014). For example, RCOC obsessions may cause sufferers to believe that they have led their partners on about their feelings and are, thus, bad people (Boulton, 2020), unworthy and/or incapable of being loved (Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014; Rajaee, 2022), and/or responsible for the relationship conflict described above (Ghomian et al., 2019b). Likewise, the ego-dystonic nature of PFOC obsessions may contribute to such negative feelings, as Parlapan Bas (2019) observed that sufferers exhibited more anxiety and stress if also highly satisfied with their marriages. Further, the seemingly "uncontrollable and irrational [quality]" (Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014, p. 174) of ROCD compulsions may contribute to negative perceptions of self. Empirical findings seem to back these claims, with significant, negative correlations between ROCD symptom severity and self-esteem having been observed (Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a, 2012b; Doron et al., 2013, Yılmaz, 2015), especially amongst individuals exhibiting both PFOC symptoms and partner-value contingent self-worth (Doron & Szepsenwol, 2015).

Sexual Dysfunction. Several studies have also hinted that ROCD may have negative impacts on a sufferer's sexual functioning. Indeed, Doron, Mizrahi, et al. (2014) observed that the severity of RCOC and PFOC symptoms correlated significantly and negatively with sexual satisfaction when accounting for the effects of several confounds (e.g., general OCD symptoms and attachment insecurity). Likewise, online statements provided by self-identified sufferers have indicated that sex may serve as a potent trigger for RCOC and PFOC symptoms, leading to intense anxiety (Tsiugaras, 2012) and even

depersonalization (Boulton, 2020). Such statements seem to align with Doron, Mizrahi, et al. (2014)'s hypothesis that intrusive ROCD stimuli may distract sufferers from sexual encounters, hindering "erotic pleasure ... and ... satisfaction" (p. 2219). Derby et al. (2021) have also expanded on this position, stating that compulsive monitoring of internal states (e.g., one's level of physiological arousal) may contribute to reductions in sexual satisfaction by directing attention to non-erotic cues. However, Doron, Mizrahi, et al. (2014) have noted that the relationships between both RCOC and PFOC symptoms and sexual dissatisfaction were significantly mediated by relationship satisfaction. Accordingly, they have suggested that, while ROCD may cause dissatisfaction with one's relationship and, thus, detriments to their sex life, poor sexual satisfaction may also lead to relationship discontent and, thus, ROCD symptoms (Doron, Mizrahi, et al., 2014).

Relationship Satisfaction, Quality, and Adjustment. An impressive amount of scholarship has suggested that ROCD may have negative impacts on one's experience of their relationship. Many studies have observed ROCD severity to correlate significantly and negatively with relationship and/or marital satisfaction (Cebeci, 2019; Doron, Mizrahi, et al., 2014; Kılıç & Altınok, 2021; Kuru, 2022; Parlapan Bas, 2019; Trak, 2016; Trak & İnözü, 2017; Yılmaz, 2015), even when controlling for common confounds (Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a, 2012b). Explanations for such findings include the sufferer becoming less able to idealize their intimate relationship and/or partner (Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014), perceiving lower support (e.g., emotional and practical) from them (Cebeci, 2019), and/or experiencing more conflict with them due to their symptoms (Cebeci, 2019; Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014; Parlapan Bas, 2019). However, as described above, it has also been posited that observed associations between ROCD and both relationship satisfaction and perceived spousal support may be bidirectional (Cebeci, 2019; Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014; Parlapan Bas, 2019). Similarly, ROCD severity has been observed to correlate significantly and negatively with relationship quality (Kabiri et al., 2017) and adjustment (Ghomian et al., 2019a, 2019b, 2021a, 2022a; Özel, 2021; Özel & Karakose, 2023; Parlapan

Bas, 2019), as well as many components of the latter (e.g., relationship consensus, satisfaction, cohesion, and affectional expression) (Ghomian et al., 2019a, 2019b, 2021a, 2022a; Özel & Karakose, 2023). However, the association between relationship adjustment and ROCD may also be bidirectional in nature (Özel, 2021; Özel & Karakose, 2023; Parlapan Bas, 2019). Further, Dar-Perl (2018) found that, as ROCD sufferers' symptoms worsened over the course of four months, their partners also became significantly less satisfied with their relationships.

Relationship Stability and Between-Partner Symptom Contagion. The above findings have serious implications for the success of ROCD sufferers' relationships. Indeed, it is thought that repeated conflict may impair one's satisfaction with their relationship and, thus, destabilize it (Amato, 2000, as cited in Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014), particularly by reducing their level of commitment to it (Rusbult et al., 1998, as cited in Doron & Derby, 2017). In line with this position, Doron, Derby, et al. (2012b) found that RCOC symptom severity correlated significantly with sufferers' levels of relationship ambivalence.

However, researchers have also noted that disclosure of one's symptoms to their partner might destabilize the relationship by causing the latter to develop ROCD obsessions and compulsions of their own (Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014). Doron, Derby, and Szepsenwol (2014) have also suggested that such between-partner symptom contagion might constitute a self-fulfilling prophecy, wherein the sufferer's continuous expression of their doubts about the relationship and/or their partner's love, as well as their seeking of reassurance about these concerns, causes the partner to examine whether they may actually be warranted. They have also speculated that the sufferer's comparison of their partner with potential alternatives may lead the latter to reciprocate such behaviour, and that the entire phenomena may occur due to amplification of the partner's own attachment insecurities and overestimation of threat (Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014). Several quantitative studies have supported the existence of such between-partner symptom contagion, including Bakçepinar (2019), who

observed that sufferers' scores on each of the ROCI and PROCSI subscales correlated significantly and positively in a moderate-to-strong manner with those of their partners. Notably, it has also been documented that individuals who were informed that their partners were experiencing relatively-severe ROCD symptoms exhibited significantly greater symptoms of their own and were significantly more likely to believe that their partners might be unfaithful (Doron, 2017; Littman et al., 2023). Further, Littman et al. (2023) found that, in such cases, sufferers' partners exhibited significantly-greater doubts about their own ability to remain faithful.

Recommendations for the Treatment of Sufferers

A fair portion of the literature on ROCD consists of recommendations for the treatment of sufferers themselves.

Diagnosis and Assessment. Thorough awareness and understanding of ROCD are thought to be fundamental to practitioners' abilities to treat individuals suffering from this condition (Brandes et al., 2020; Doron & Derby, 2017; Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014). This fulsome knowledge may be particularly crucial to the diagnosis of ROCD, as its symptoms can be difficult to recognize. Indeed, sufferers may be unwilling to disclose their symptoms, given that they may be associated with stigma (Yıldırım, 2017). Likewise, a variety of clients may present in therapy exhibiting concerns about their intimate relationships, difficulty making decisions about them, and/or conflict with their partners, though these aren't necessarily indicative of ROCD (Doron & Derby, 2017; Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014). In situations where it is suspected that a client may be suffering from ROCD, scholars (e.g., Doron & Derby, 2017; Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014; Ghomian et al., 2019b; Yılmaz, 2015) have suggested that practitioners should attempt to diagnose them through the administration of the ROCI (Doron, Derby, et al., 2012b), PROCSI (Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a), and ODIS (Brandes et al., 2020). However, Doron and Derby (2017) have has also recommended that, prior to doing so, they should assess for the presence of general OCD symptoms through the use of structured interviews such as Sheehan et al.

(1998)'s Mini International Neuropsychiatric Interview (MINI), as well as evaluate their severity via measures like as the Obsessive-Compulsive Inventory-Revised (OCI-R) (Foa et al., 2002).

Having comprehensive awareness and understanding of ROCD may also allow practitioners to recognize aspects of sufferers' idiosyncratic experiences which may be worthy of investigation and, thus, to follow Doron and Derby (2017)'s guidance by conducting holistic assessment of them. Indeed, scholars have identified a multitude of domains which may be relevant targets for assessment, including the onset, development, nature, and severity of a given client's symptoms, their triggers, as well as the distress which they cause (Doron & Derby, 2017; Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014; Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a, 2012b; Ghomian et al., 2019b). When working with ROCD sufferers, practitioners are also recommended to explore factors implicated in ROCD's epidemiology and etiology (Balcı, 2021; Caccico et al., 2019; Derby et al., 2021; Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014; Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a; Tinella et al., 2023; Trak & İnözü, 2019; Yılmaz, 2015), as well as clients' family, relationship, and attachment histories (Akkaya & Yılmaz, 2021; Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014; Kuru, 2020). Existing attachment insecurities (e.g., fear of abandonment) should also be elucidated (Abak, 2019; Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a, 2012b; Özel, 2021; Özel & Karakose, 2023; Trak & İnözü, 2019; Yılmaz, 2015) in addition to dynamics within the client's current relationship, if applicable (Dar-Perl, 2018), especially those related to conflict, as well as their possession of skills for its resolution (Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014; Doron, Derby, et al., 2012b). Additionally, practitioners are encouraged to evaluate the potential impacts of relationship conflict on the client's symptoms (Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014; Doron, Derby et al., 2012b), as well as their relationship satisfaction (Kuru, 2022), adjustment (Özel, 2021; Özel & Karakose, 2023), and/or commitment (Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014). Further, if the sufferer is in a relationship, it should be determined whether their partner is aware of their symptoms and/or has experienced any of their own (Bakçepinar, 2019). If not, the practitioner will need to determine whether disclosure of these symptoms to the partner would benefit the client (e.g., by mitigating the sufferer's

guilt about hiding them and/or by enhancing support from the partner) (Littman et al., 2023). Finally, clinicians should examine whether clients have experienced any of the peripheral impacts of ROCD identified above (Dar-Perl, 2018; Derby et al., 2021; Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014; Parlapan Bas, 2019).

Cognitive-Behavioural Therapy. In line with their overwhelming endorsement of Salkovskis (1985, 1989, 1996)'s CAM, the vast majority of scholars who have examined ROCD have recommended that its symptoms, etiological factors, and impacts be addressed through evidence-based Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT) techniques commonly used to treat other themes of OCD (Abak & Güzel, 2021; Akkaya & Yılmaz, 2021; Balcı, 2021; Brandes et al., 2020; Cebeci, 2019; Derby et al., 2021; Doron & Derby, 2017; Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014; Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a, 2012b; Doron & Szepsenwol, 2015; Doron et al., 2013; Lombardi & Rodriguez, 2019; Melli, Bulli et al., 2018; Orihuela Echevarría, 2017; Trak & İnözü, 2019; Yıldırım, 2018).

Psychoeducation. Psychoeducation features prominently as one such technique, with clinicians recommended to introduce ROCD sufferers to the OCD cycle (Orihuela Echevarría, 2017) and assist them in identifying the particular obsessions, compulsions, and triggers which they experience (Doron & Derby, 2017). Psychoeducation about Salkovskis (1985, 1989, 1996)'s CAM (Doron & Derby, 2017; Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014) and ROCD's various etiological factors (Cebeci, 2019; Doron, 2020; Doron et al., 2013; Trak, 2016; Trak & İnözü, 2019) has also been suggested, as doing so may lead to more adaptive appraisal of intrusions as well as alleviation of shame and guilt (Doron, 2020). Shame and guilt might also be lessened by discussing with the client how the intrusive, illogical, and ego-dystonic qualities of ROCD symptoms may contribute to distress (Parlapan Bas, 2019; Trak & İnözü, 2019).

Further, acknowledging the uncertainty inherent to engaging in a romantic relationship may help ROCD sufferers to better tolerate obsession-related distress (Lombardi & Rodriguez, 2019).

Cognitive Restructuring. Cognitive restructuring is an additional approach which may be used to

target ROCD obsessions (Yıldırım, 2018) as well as the various cognitive factors which have been implicated in their etiology (Abak, 2019; Balcı, 2021; Brandes et al., 2020; Orihuela Echevarría, 2017; Melli, Bulli, et al., 2018; Melli et al., 2015; Trak, 2016; Trak & İnözü, 2019; Yıldırım, 2018). Specific recommendations for cognitive restructuring include engaging the client in Socratic dialogue in order to challenge automatic negative thoughts, OCD-related maladaptive beliefs, as well as maladaptive relationship beliefs (Akkaya & Yılmaz, 2021; Derby et al., 2021). ROCD-specific self-vulnerabilities may also be addressed through such questioning as well as by having clients consider the perspectives of others around them (Doron & Szepsenwol, 2015). *Imagery rescripting*, that is, assisting clients to reexperience and re-process pivotal moments in their lives, may also derive novel cognitive understandings (Doron & Derby, 2017).

Behavioural Experiments. Behavioural experiments have also been noted as methods through which practitioners might abate ROCD. For example, having clients engage in their compulsions while keeping a log of their subjective experiences might help them to understand how the former may, counterintuitively, sustain and/or worsen their distress (Doron & Derby, 2017). Likewise, Doron and Derby (2017) have highlighted the Identify, Delay, and Respond (I DARE) protocol, wherein clients challenge the automaticity of their dysfunctional appraisals of ROCD stimuli by delaying rumination about them. Further, many scholars have recommended the use of Exposure with Response Prevention (ERP), which exposes clients to the triggers of their obsessions and, thus, distress, but has them refrain from engaging in typically-associated compulsions (Brandes et al., 2020; Derby et al., 2021; Doron & Derby, 2017; Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014; Doron, Derby, et al., 2012a; Doron et al., 2013; Lombardi & Rodriguez, 2019; Trak, 2016; Trak & İnözü, 2019). As clients work through a hierarchy of increasingly-triggering exposures, it is believed that they may increase their tolerance to ROCD-related distress to the extent that the association between their obsessions and compulsions dissolves (Doron & Derby, 2017; Doron et al., 2013). Such exposures might be conducted in vivo or through imaginal

methods (Lombardi & Rodriguez, 2019).

Emphasis on Attachment. Given that attachment insecurities may play a central role in ROCD's etiology, it has been recommended that the CBT techniques described above be used to mitigate them, in particular (Abak, 2019; Doron & Derby, 2017; Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014; Doron et al., 2013; Trak & İnözü, 2019). For example, Doron (2020) has suggested that psychoeducating clients about insecure attachment styles might bolster their resilience to ROCD intrusions, while restructuring OCD-related maladaptive beliefs which are conducive to hyperactivation strategies (e.g., overestimation of threat) may reduce a sufferer's fear of abandonment (Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014). Additionally, imagery rescripting of formative attachment-related memories has been speculated to bolster attachment security, leading to improvements in OCD-related maladaptive beliefs and self-vulnerabilities (Abak, 2019; Doron & Derby, 2017). Doron, Derby, and Szepsenwol (2014) have also noted specific ERP protocols in which clients may be exposed to triggers of abandonment fears while asked to refrain from seeking reassurance from their partners.

Delivery via Mobile Apps. The strongest evidence for CBT's ability to treat ROCD likely comes from studies examining the efficacy of GG Relationship Obsession (GGRO), a mobile app co-founded by Guy Doron which is designed to mitigate the dysfunctional appraisal of ROCD intrusions through psychoeducation as well as the cognitive restructuring of OCD-related maladaptive beliefs, catastrophic relationship beliefs, self-vulnerabilities, and attachment insecurities (Abak, 2019; Gorelik et al., 2023; Roncero et al., 2018). Indeed, several studies have found that even brief engagement with this app may lead to significant, moderate-to-large reductions in OCD-related maladaptive beliefs, corresponding improvements in OCD and ROCD symptoms (Cerea et al., 2020; Roncero et al., 2018, 2019), as well as increased self-esteem (Cerea et al., 2020; Roncero et al., 2019). Additionally, Gorelik et al. (2023) found that the use of GGRO by each member of a dyad significantly buffered them against relationship-related intrusions and led to significant reductions in their endorsement of catastrophic relationship beliefs,

attachment anxiety, relationship dissatisfaction, and RCOC symptoms. Given its ease of use, it has also been stated that GGRO may be used as an adjunct to in-person CBT (Cerea et al., 2020), perhaps as a form of homework (Abak, 2019; Brandes et al., 2020).

Provision of Communication and Conflict-Resolution Skills. As conflict may have deleterious effects on sufferers' relationships and trigger their obsessions, practitioners have also been advised to assist clients in the development of contingencies for when conflict arises (Brandes et al., 2020), as well as skills for communicating about this issue with their partners, particularly through role-playing (Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014).

Involvement of the Sufferer's Partner. Several scholars have also stated that directly involving ROCD sufferers' partners in the former's treatment may enhance outcomes (Brandes et al., 2020; Mısırlı & Kaynak, 2023; Shapiro, 2020), particularly by improving the assessment of relational dynamics (e.g., patterns of conflict), as well as the aforementioned provision of communication and conflict-resolution skills (Brandes et al., 2020). Likewise, it has been suggested that couples counselling may benefit ROCD sufferers by alleviating relationship distress which does not stem from their symptoms (Lombardi & Rodriguez, 2019), thus removing low relationship satisfaction, adjustment, and quality as potential triggers of their symptoms (Balcı, 2021; Özel, 2021; Özel & Karakose, 2023). Further, Parlapan Bas (2019) has stated that this may remedy the sufferer's experience of depression and stress.

Addressing Symptom Accommodation. According to the literature, the treatment of individuals suffering from ROCD might also prove more fruitful if their partners are present for psychoeducation about the aforementioned dangers of symptom accommodation, as doing so may bolster ERP protocols and externalize the issue from the client themselves (Derby et al., 2021; Doron & Derby, 2017; Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014; Doron, Mizrahi, et al., 2014). It is also worth noting that, in cases of relationship anxiety (i.e., a condition similar to ROCD which also involves pathological concern about being abandoned by one's partner), psychoeducating an affected couple about symptom

accommodation and encouraging them to, instead, express themselves to one another during times of distress has led to reductions in sufferers' symptoms (Paprocki and Baucom, 2015). Similarly, when utilizing ERP protocols to treat general OCD symptoms, having the sufferer's partner psychoeducated about and, thus, refrain from engaging in symptom accommodation while being emotionally open and encouraging has been observed to enhance their effectiveness (Abramowitz et al., 2012).

Addressing Symptom Contagion. While including one's partner in their treatment may be helpful, Littman et al. (2023) have also highlighted the potential dangers associated with disclosing a sufferer's symptoms to their significant other (i.e., between-partner symptom contagion). Accordingly, they have recommended that, if disclosure is determined to be beneficial, the partner should, first, be psychoeducated about both OCD and ROCD, perhaps through the distribution of literature, before fielding any questions and/or concerns they may have (Littman et al., 2023). They have also suggested that emphasis be placed on the steps which the sufferer is taking towards recovery and the relationship's healthy continuation (Littman et al., 2023). Further, they note that discussion of the sufferer's obsessions should be done in a general, rather than specific manner to spare the partner's feelings and, thus, lower the chance that symptom contagion might occur (Littman et al., 2023).

Pharmacological Approaches. Research on the pharmacological treatment of ROCD is extremely limited; however, Lombardi and Rodriguez (2019) have promoted the psychiatric assessment of clients as a means of determining its potential utility for them. Additionally, Doron, Derby, and Szepsenwol (2014) have reported that, based on clinical experience, high doses of Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors (SSRIs) may alleviate ROCD symptoms, while Marcatili et al. (2022) have reported the use of esketamine to be effective.

Addressing Sexual Dysfunction. Noting the potential for ROCD symptoms to distract from and, thus, hinder sufferers' sexual experiences, it has been recommended that, when applicable, practitioners incorporate sex therapy techniques, specifically sensate focus, into treatment (Derby et al.,

2021; Doron, Mizrahi, et al., 2014). Psychoeducating clients about the potential negative impacts of ROCD symptoms on their sex lives (Doron, Mizrahi, et al., 2014) and how these may be rooted in unrealistic expectations about intimacy (Rajaee, 2022) may also be prudent.

Additional Recommendations. In addition to the suggestions detailed above, scholars have recommended that treatment be tailored to clients in such a way that it is mindful of their potential symptoms of depression, anxiety, and/or stress (Parlapan Bas, 2019). Likewise, it has been suggested that delaying relationship-related decisions until after therapy has concluded may help a sufferer to more fully engage in their relationship and, thus, come to a better-informed conclusion about their experience of it (Doron & Derby, 2017).

Recommendations for the Treatment of Impacted Couples

Relative to recommendations for the individual treatment of ROCD sufferers, very few suggestions have been made about how practitioners might support couples impacted by ROCD. However, it has been said that bearing knowledge about and, thus, being able to assess for the presence of ROCD's symptoms and etiological factors would generally be prudent for couples therapists (Balcı, 2021; Dehaqin et al., 2023; Yılmaz, 2015). Likewise, it has been suggested that assessment for ROCD should take place when clients present with low relationship satisfaction (Kuru, 2020) and/or when couples seek treatment for relationship conflict (Özel, 2021). When it appears that a couple presenting in therapy has, indeed, been impacted by ROCD, it may be helpful for practitioners to assess the attachment styles of each partner and to work to resolve their experience of relationship dissatisfaction (Balcı, 2021). Additionally, psychoeducating the dyad about the nature of ROCD and its potential influences on problematic patterns of interaction may benefit each client (Doron, Derby, & Szepsenwol, 2014; Doron, Mizrahi, et al., 2014), particularly through externalization of the problem from the sufferer (Derby et al., 2021). Further, Pisheh and Jahed (2020) have suggested that couples therapies which foster secure attachment be used. However, scholars have also stated that it may be wise for ROCD

sufferers to seek individual CBT treatment for their obsessions and compulsions before engaging in couples therapy, particularly if these symptoms may be the main cause of any sexual and/or relationship dysfunction that they and their partners are experiencing (Doron, Mizrahi, et al., 2014), as this may also benefit their intimate relationships (Özel & Karaköse, 2023).

Summary

The findings of the preceding section indicate that, through its two symptom types (i.e., RCOC and PFOC), ROCD represents a troublesome presentation of OCD which warrants further attention from scholars and practitioners alike. Indeed, its impacts on the mental health and interpersonal dynamics of sufferers and their partners appear to be not only dramatic and numerous, but widespread, affecting men and women across the globe regardless of their age, relationship status, and/or the duration of their partnerships. Likewise, while a number of cognitive and/or developmental factors have been implicated in ROCD's etiology and, thus, become targets for treatment within the context of individual sufferers' symptoms, recommendations for the treatment of couples affected by ROCD are far less robust.

Emotionally Focused Therapy

The second section of this chapter investigates research question two, highlighting critical information about EFT for couples therapists intending to practice this modality with clients impacted by ROCD. It begins by describing findings related to EFT's development and philosophical underpinnings, the role of the therapist and the interventions they may use, as well as this modality's sequence of stages and steps. It then details evidence related to EFT's efficacy and effectiveness, key process variables, as well as recommendations for the use of this modality with specific populations.

Development and Philosophical Underpinnings

EFT was initially conceived by Les Greenberg and Sue Johnson (Greenberg & Johnson, 1988) based on their findings about the process of change within couples therapy (Brubacher, 2017). As an

approach to the treatment of romantic partners, it incorporates principles from the humanistic-experiential perspective (Rogers, 1951; Perls, 1969), particularly collaborative, moment-to-moment meaning-making and beliefs about clients' capacities for self-actualization. As such, when clients may be suffering from the symptoms of a psychiatric disorder, EFT practitioners attempt to centre their specific experiences and learn from them, rather than make assumptions about them based on diagnostic labels (Johnson, 2019a). EFT also involves elements from systems theory (Bertalanffy, 1969; Minuchin & Fishman, 1981), specifically the notion that issues may be co-constructed by two parties through reciprocal, maladaptive patterns of interaction (Brubacher, 2017; Johnson, 2019a; Johnson & Greenman, 2006). As its name suggests, EFT has also adopted each of these perspectives' emphases on emotional experience (Johnson, 2019a). Accordingly, Johnson (2019a) notes that EFT is mindful of each of the following factors which have been underscored in the literature on relationship distress:

- The power of negative emotion, for example, as seen in facial expression, to predict long-term stability and satisfaction in relationships.
- The importance of process, or the nature of emotional engagement and how partners communicate (rather than the content or frequency of arguments).
- The toxicity of negative cycles of demand-withdraw and stone-walling behaviors.
- The need for cycles of mutual soothing for relationship stability.
- The power of positive emotion, termed positive-sentiment override in the behavioral literature, but referring to more secure connection in the EFT world. (p. 126)

Subsequent to its conception, Greenberg largely abandoned EFT in favour of an individual approach with similar underpinnings (Brubacher, 2017; Elliott et al., 2003; Greenberg et al., 1993). Johnson, on the other hand, continued to augment EFT according to assumptions about adult love extrapolated from Bowlby (1969, 1973, 1980, 1988)'s Attachment Theory, centring attachment as "a key survival strategy [evolutionarily] designed to keep significant others close and available for support and protection"

(Johnson, 2019a, p. 126). In sum, EFT aims to mitigate relationship distress and dissatisfaction by deepening clients' processing of emotional experiences which stem from attachment insecurities (e.g., fear of abandonment) as well as through modification of the maladaptive patterns of interaction in which they may result (e.g., pursue vs. withdraw) such that they, instead, foster attachment security (Johnson, 2019a).

Role of the Therapist

Emotionally focused therapists occupy several roles, first and foremost as exemplary attachment figures for clients, displaying accessibility, responsiveness, engagement, authenticity, presence, and empathy (Johnson, 2019a). This position also requires them to exude a sense of safety, which may be accomplished through direct validation of the clients' experiences or by speaking, when necessary, "in an especially soft and accepting manner" (Johnson, 2019a, p. 66). EFT practitioners have also been described as relationship/process consultants (Johnson, 2019a; Johnson & Greenman, 2006) who guide couples as they examine and, thus, expand their emotional experiences. At the same time, they are constantly bearing in mind their clients' goals and capacities for growth, encouraging safe contact with deeper, more-uncomfortable emotions as well as their "fragmented, denied, and avoided elements" (Johnson, 2019a, p. 66). Likewise, EFT practitioners draw connections between these experiences and their clients' repetitive cycles of problematic interaction which contribute to distress, attempting to provoke those which, instead, are marked by safety, accessibility, responsiveness, and positive engagement (Johnson, 2019a; Johnson & Greenman, 2006). Further, EFT practitioners often step out of their roles as authority figures, walking alongside clients as individuals who have also encountered personal hardships and normalizing the experiences of those they work with through selfdisclosure (Johnson, 2019a).

The Five Moves of the Emotionally Focused Therapy Tango

Throughout the process of EFT, practitioners repeatedly engage in what Johnson (2019a, 2019b)

has termed *the five moves of the EFT Tango*. Each of these may involve the utilization of specific therapeutic skills, including reflection, validation, evocative questions and responses, interpretation, reframing, and the choreographing of interactions and responses between partners (Johnson, 2019a).

Move One: Mirroring Present Process. In the first move, the emotionally focused therapist builds the therapeutic alliance with the couple by displaying empathy and works with them to identify emerging patterns in their management of emotions and, thus, interactions with one another (Johnson, 2019a). Critically, this is done without judgment, intellectualization, nor rationalization of these patterns by any of the parties involved and in such a way that they are externalized from the clients as self-perpetuating cycles (Johnson, 2019a).

Move Two: Affect Assembly and Deepening. The second move involves assisting clients to develop more holistic senses of their emotions and, thus, control over them, through examination of their triggers/cues, how they are initially perceived, physical responses they provoke, meanings they carry, and the actions which typically follow them (Arnold, 1960, as cited in Johnson, 2019a). The practitioner also normalizes and contextualizes these experiences within the clients' relationship dynamics and unmet attachment needs (Johnson, 2019a). Following this, clients are supported in deepening their emotional experiences through acknowledgment of core emotions (i.e., joy, surprise, anger, shame, fear, and sadness) which may not initially be within conscious awareness (Johnson, 2019a).

Move Three: Choreographing Engaged Encounters. The third move sees the practitioner moderate vulnerable discussions between clients about their new emotional understandings, leading to additional depth and integration of their experiences, as well as the accessibility of new behaviours and "positive responses [towards one another]" (Johnson, 2019a, p. 62). Johnson (2019a) has stated that such conversations are analogous to behavioural exposures, with clients encountering distress, but within a context of relative safety such that they can implement new strategies for its management.

"[Slicing] the risk thinner" (Johnson, 2019a, p. 62), that is, lowering the challenge of a given conversation, is one way in which EFT practitioners may support such safety, perhaps by allowing a struggling client to communicate in a less-vulnerable way than was initially planned.

Move Four: Processing the Encounter. During move four, the therapist shifts the clients' focus from their emotional experiences to unpacking the novel, vulnerable exchanges which have taken place during move three, and highlights how these may factor into their presenting problems (Johnson, 2019a). Any negative responses which have been evoked are also examined further, perhaps by having the practitioner "catch the bullet" (Johnson, 2019a, p. 143), that is, channel one client's hostility towards their partner into a constructive conversation about their inability to receive vulnerable disclosures from the latter.

Move Five: Integrating and Validating. Finally, in move five, the therapist underscores the couple's newly gleaned understandings of their emotional experiences and interpersonal interactions to make those which were positive more concrete (Johnson, 2019a). They also validate the challenge inherent to the overall process, bolstering the clients' senses that they will be able to affect change within themselves and their romantic relationship moving forward, both inside and outside of therapy (Johnson, 2019a, 2019b). This final move also makes it more clear to clients that "inner experience ... shapes interactional patterns in a self-reinforcing manner [just as] interpersonal connection reciprocally shapes inner experience and the sense of self" (Johnson, 2019a, p. 56).

Sequence of Therapy

EFT is time limited and highly structured, unfolding in nine steps spread across three stages, with a typical course of therapy constituting 13-15 sessions (Makinen & Johnson, 2006; Johnson, 2019a, 2019b).

Stage One: De-Escalation of Negative Interaction Cycles. In the initial stage of EFT, the practitioner primarily utilizes tango moves one, two, and three to accomplish the first four steps of the

model (Johnson, 2019a, 2019b). These include assessing the conflict-related issues which have brought the clients to therapy while building the therapeutic alliance with them (i.e., step one). This typically involves conducting private, individual sessions with each partner such that they can be more open about their experience of the relationship with the practitioner (Johnson, 2019a). Following step one, the therapist begins elucidating the specific negative interaction cycle which is plaguing the partners' relationship (i.e., step two) (Johnson, 2019a, 2019b). Typically, a couple's negative interaction pattern involves one partner criticizing the other, leading the latter to withdraw, though it may, alternately, see each partner attacking one another, withdrawing from each other, or one seeking proximity before withdrawing due to the threat of vulnerability, leading their partner to also withdraw (Johnson, 2019a). Subsequently, the therapist encourages the couple to attend to previously-unrecognized emotions (i.e., step three) and to see that these and related attachment needs are contributing to their negative interaction cycle before highlighting this as the core issue, thus externalizing it from them (i.e., step four) (Johnson, 2019a, 2019b). If done successfully, the partners will exhibit reduced emotional reactivity towards one another by the end of this stage (Johnson, 2019a, 2019b).

Stage Two: Changing Interactional Patterns and Restructuring Attachment. The next three steps of EFT take place during stage two of the model and are largely facilitated through the practitioner's use of more intense forms of tango moves two and three (Johnson, 2019a, 2019b). Step five involves encouraging one partner, typically the more withdrawn, to go beyond mere attention to previously-unrecognized emotions, attachment needs, and their roles in maladaptive patterns of interaction by deepening their understandings of how these may be "related to the way [they perceive] self and other in the relationship" (Johnson, 2019b, p. 100) and then expressing these to their partner. In turn, step six sees the practitioner encouraging the partner, often the pursuer, "to hear, process and respond to this sharing [in a reciprocal manner], so that this new experience can become part of, and begin to reshape, the couple's interactions" (Johnson, 2019b, p. 112). Ideally, steps five and six will

facilitate the couple's engagement in *Hold Me Tight conversations*, that is, exchanges involving the vulnerable sharing of their wants and needs with one another (i.e., step seven), and, consequently, the re-engagement of the withdrawer and softening of the pursuer's attacks (Johnson, 2019a, 2019b). The ultimate goal of stage two is for each member of the dyad to develop a greater sense that their partner is present, open to communicating, and able to provide them with safety and security (Johnson, 2019a, 2019b).

Stage Three: Consolidation and Integration. In the final stage of EFT, the therapist first relies upon tango move five to help the couple solidify the novel understandings which they have come to during the preceding stages (Johnson, 2019a). This allows the practitioner to then utilize tango move one as they encourage the couple to collaboratively use these understandings to solve existing problems within their relationship (i.e., step eight) (Johnson, 2019a). Central to this eighth step is that, as the partners have, ideally, become less reactive by this point in the EFT process, they now have greater overall capacities to interact with one another (Johnson, 2019a). Additionally, their greater senses of secure attachment and safety enable them to be empathetic, responsive, cooperative, accepting, accommodative, and, ultimately, resilient in the face of barriers to solving existing problems together (Johnson, 2019a). At the end of this stage and, thus, the entire process of EFT, the therapist once again engages in tango move one, using it to highlight the positive interaction cycle in which the couple is now able to engage such that they learn to rely upon it when faced with challenges they might encounter outside of therapy (i.e., step nine) (Johnson, 2019a, 2019b).

Efficacy and Effectiveness

Having initially emerged from couples therapy process research and undergone extensive empirical examination since its inception, EFT is now considered by many to be an evidence-based treatment for relationship distress (Beasley & Ager, 2019; Spengler et al., 2022; Wiebe & Johnson, 2016). Indeed, many studies have suggested that EFT may evoke significant, moderate-to-large

improvements in relationship distress and, thus, satisfaction, as well as in relationship adjustment and stability, attachment security, intimacy, and sexual satisfaction (Doss et al., 2021; Wiebe et al., 2019; Wiebe & Johnson, 2016). Likewise, there is considerable evidence that such benefits might persist after treatment has ceased and that they may be experienced by couples whose relationships have been impacted by depression, post-traumatic stress, and/or serious illness (Doss et al., 2021; Wiebe et al., 2019; Wiebe & Johnson, 2016).

The results of several meta-analyses have also aligned with the conclusions drawn above. For instance, Beasley and Ager (2019) examined seven randomized controlled trials which investigated EFT's effectiveness in improving marital satisfaction amongst relatively-diverse populations, finding a significant and impressively-strong effect size. Likewise, they found that, in nearly 75% of the studies which included post-treatment follow-up, such "improvements ... were completely maintained" (Beasley & Ager, 2019, p. 154) at such time. In perhaps the most extensive meta-analysis on EFT's efficacy to date, Spengler et al. (2022) examined treatment outcomes for 330 couples who took part in randomized controlled trials, quasi-experiments, as well as dissertation studies, finding that 70% of them no longer exhibited signs of relationship distress post-treatment, with these "gains [lasting] up to 2 years" (p. 2).

Process Research

Process research on EFT has highlighted the practitioner's ability to develop a therapeutic alliance with a given couple (i.e., the explicit goal of stage one) as crucial to improving the latter's satisfaction with their partnership (Brubacher & Wiebe, 2019). Brubacher and Wiebe (2019) have also stated that the task aspect of this alliance, that is, the couple's "confidence that the tasks they are being asked to engage in are relevant to their presenting issues" (p. 295) is particularly critical. Likewise, they have posited that this may be accomplished by remaining transparent about as well as in control of the EFT process with clients, monitoring for and validating feelings of discomfort with it, and working to address any ruptures which might occur (Brubacher & Wiebe, 2019).

Additionally, it has been noted that the depth of each partner's experiential processing and sense of affiliation with one another may be imperative to treatment outcomes (Brubacher & Wiebe, 2019; Dalgleish et al., 2015; Greenman & Johnson, 2013; Wiebe et al., 2017). Brubacher and Wiebe (2019) have posited that these variables may be addressed through each of the five moves of the EFT tango, but particularly the enactments used within the third and fourth. The re-engagement of withdrawn partners and softening of attacking partners' hostile stances are also thought to signal not only gains in experiential processing and the couple's sense of affiliation with one another, but the relative success of EFT overall (Burgess Moser et al., 2018; Greenman & Johnson, 2013).

Recommendations for Use With Specific Populations

While quantitative evidence has suggested that EFT may be an effective treatment for couples dealing with a variety of issues (Wiebe et al., 2019; Wiebe & Johnson, 2016), scholars have also made recommendations for how it might be adapted for use with specific populations.

With Attachment-Injured Couples. Attachment injuries (i.e., emotionally poignant events which shatter expectations that one's partner will respond to them in a time of need) have been identified as potential barriers to therapeutic outcomes in EFT, as they may lead to disengagement and, thus, stalemates between partners (Johnson & Williams-Keeler, 1998; Makinen & Johnson, 2006). Such challenges to secure attachment are often "characterized [by] perceived abandonment, betrayal, or breach of trust" (Makinen & Johnson, 2006, p. 1055). Thus, it may not be surprising that they are typically associated with infidelity (Makinen & Johnson, 2006). However, they may also result from one partner's failure to provide a secure base to the other while the latter is struggling with grief, life transitions, and/or health issues (Halchuk et al., 2010). Additionally, it has been posited that coming out as bisexual to one's monosexual partner (Cannon & Boccone, 2019) or as transgender to one's cisgender partner (Chapman & Caldwell, 2012) might also lead to attachment injury in one or both partners.

Regardless of the cause of the attachment injury, the offender may become "both the source of and

solution to pain and fear" (Chapman & Caldwell, 2012, p. 45), leading to extreme dysregulation on the part of the injured partner.

Accordingly, through clinical observation of couples who were able to resolve attachment injuries during EFT, the appropriately named Attachment Injury Resolution Model (AIRM) was developed (Makinen & Johnson, 2006). This model comprises an eight-step addition to EFT's second stage, with the injured partner vividly describing the event which precipitated the attachment injury as well as the emotions they felt as if they were happening in the moment (Brubacher, 2015; Makinen & Johnson, 2006). In turn, their partner is encouraged to provide the support which they had previously failed to (Makinen & Johnson, 2006). Empirical research has suggested that use of the AIRM may facilitate forgiveness, trust, and attachment security between partners as well as significant improvements in their levels of emotional engagement, hostility, relationship distress, relationship/marital satisfaction, and intimacy (Dehghani & Dehghani, 2023; Halchuk et al., 2010; Makinen & Johnson, 2006). Likewise, the AIRM may stimulate significant gains relative to their dyadic adjustment and subjective appraisal of the severity of the attachment injury even three to five years later (Halchuk et al., 2010).

With Gay Couples. However, scholars have also noted that tailoring EFT to the needs of a specific population may not necessitate significant modification of its structure. Indeed, Allan and Johnson (2017) have stated that, because heterosexual and gay couples experience relationship distress and, conversely, satisfaction for similar reasons, emotionally focused therapists working with the latter population need only integrate knowledge of the "unique challenges and … attachment research specific to [them]" (p. 288).

In working with gay men during stage one of EFT, such an approach might include broaching the subject of proximal and distal stressors which may uniquely impact them (e.g., internalized and overt homophobia) to foster the therapeutic alliance and determine whether these play a role in their

³ See Makinen and Johnson (2006) for a full description of the AIRM.

negative interaction cycles (Allan & Johnson, 2017). Doing so in an ongoing, accepting, validating, and normalizing manner may also be critical and involve acknowledgment of the practitioner's sexual orientation, mistaken assumptions about the gay experience, and repair of any ruptures (Allan & Johnson, 2017). It is also thought that investigation of the couple's negative interaction cycle and experience of attachment insecurity should examine potential influences, such as ambiguous feelings and/or beliefs about relationships (e.g., uncertainty about commitment), non-monogamous arrangements, and negative views of self stemming from internalized homophobia (Allan & Johnson, 2017). Additionally, it is recommended that practitioners be aware that gay men may have difficulty attuning to emotional experiences in a relatively-deep way and that they may be prone to prematurely dissolving their relationships (Allan & Johnson, 2017). Finally, in working to externalize the couple's negative interaction cycle, therapists should also highlight homonegativity as a problem separate from the two partners themselves (Allan & Johnson, 2017).

In stage two of EFT, deepening of the couple's emotions, senses of selves, and, thus modification of their negative interaction cycle might be enhanced through continued focus on the potential influence of homonegativity as well as "exposure to social support from or engagement with other gay men, services, social networks, or organizations whose behavior counteracts [it]" (Allan & Johnson, 2017, p. 297). Emotionally focused therapists should also bear in mind that, as gay men confront deeper aspects of their experiences, they may also need to confront the challenging realities of the discrimination which they have been subjected to (Allan & Johnson, 2017). However, Allan and Johnson (2017) have also noted that promoting responsiveness and, thus, attachment security between gay partners may also provide them with the resources needed to challenge homophobia. As this stage of EFT comes to a close and couples are encouraged to engage with one another in a vulnerable manner, therapists should also consider that sociocultural discrimination may make such engagement more difficult for gay men (Allan & Johnson, 2017).

Finally, it has been recommended that, in the third stage of EFT, in which the therapist assists the couple to find ways to sustain their new, positive patterns of interaction beyond therapy, they also attempt to solidify "the gay positive resources that have been identified as relevant for the couple" (Allan & Johnson, 2017, p. 298). Likewise, scholars have suggested that gay couples should be guided through conversations regarding how they might identify and address internalized and/or overt homonegativity in the future (Allan & Johnson, 2017).

Summary

The section above highlights a wealth of empirical evidence suggesting that, as a systemic, humanistic, experiential, and attachment-based approach, EFT may be an effective and efficacious mitigator of relationship distress. Additionally, it suggests that EFT may be not only well structured, with clearly defined stages and steps, but versatile in its adaptability for use with diverse populations.

Likewise, EFT appears to be well understood, with process research having identified the specific mechanisms through which the positive therapeutic outcomes noted above might be enacted (e.g., development of the therapeutic relationship and the depth of clients' experiential processing).

Accordingly, emotionally focused therapists, occupying clearly-defined roles and armed with specific interventions (e.g., the five moves of the EFT tango), seem well positioned to affect positive change in working with distressed couples.

Chapter Three: Discussion and Applied Practices

Emotionally Focused Therapy With Impacted Couples

This chapter addresses the third and final research question of this project by synthesizing the findings of the literature review above to provide EFT practitioners with recommendations on how they might best utilize this modality with couples impacted by ROCD.

As an Adjunct to Individual Cognitive-Behavioural Therapy

Based on the findings of chapter two's literature review, it appears that EFT may serve as a much-needed and highly-appropriate intervention for couples impacted by ROCD. Indeed, its dyadic context may provide sufferers and their partners with a particularly apt forum in which to vulnerably discuss and, thus, collaboratively address factors believed to contribute to ROCD's emergence, including maladaptive beliefs about love and relationships as well as attachment insecurities. As such discussions may also provoke ROCD-related distress, but within an environment of relative safety, they may function similarly to the behavioural exposures which many researchers have recommended be used to mitigate sufferers' symptoms. Moreover, ROCD researchers have specifically called for the use of couples therapies which address attachment insecurities (Balcı, 2021; Pisheh & Jahed, 2020), which is the precise aim of EFT. Notably, several of the attachment insecurities which are specifically targeted in EFT (i.e., concern over being abandoned by one's partner and/or the latter's trustworthiness and reliability) also represent core ROCD obsessions.

Secondly, EFT may resolve many of the deleterious effects which ROCD is thought to impose upon sufferers, their partners, and/or their relationships. For instance, Balcı (2021) has explicitly recommended that dyadic approaches be used to address ROCD's potential impact on relationship satisfaction, while evidence has suggested that, as such an approach, EFT may be an effective remedy for this variable. Likewise, EFT has been shown to alleviate relationship dissatisfaction in couples who have been significantly impacted by stress and depression, as may often be the case for ROCD sufferers

and their partners. Additionally, it's been observed that EFT might mitigate sexual dissatisfaction, intimacy issues, distressing emotional experiences (e.g., shame), as well as clients' negative perceptions of self, all of which may stem from the presence of ROCD. Further, EFT targets factors which have been implicated as both antecedents and consequences of ROCD, including relationship conflict and maladaptive patterns of interaction (e.g., clinging/dependence vs. avoidance/withdrawal), relationship distress and dissatisfaction, as well as a perceived lack of support from one's partner.

Given the above information, it might be tempting to view EFT as a panacea for ROCD. However, as its focus is on alleviating relationship distress and dissatisfaction through a couple's engagement with attachment-related emotions, EFT may be less effective than CBT at addressing certain factors implicated in ROCD's etiology which involve individual tendencies towards the dysfunctional appraisal of cognitive intrusions (e.g., OCD-related maladaptive beliefs). Likewise, EFT has never been investigated as an intervention for ROCD nor better-researched presentations of OCD, whereas CBT may constitute an evidence-based treatment for the latter. Accordingly, EFT is likely best suited as a complementary adjunct to, rather than a substitute for the cognitive-behavioural treatment of ROCD.

Leveraging Knowledge of Relationship Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder

Beyond being generally prudent for couples therapists, the possession of thorough awareness and understanding of ROCD may enhance emotionally focused therapists' work with couples impacted by this disorder. Indeed, in line with Allan and Johnson (2017)'s approach to conducting EFT with a specific population, it is likely that practitioners need not reinvent this model to support romantic partners whose relationships have been negatively affected by ROCD; however, they do need to be knowledgeable about this disorder and considerate of the specific challenges which it may impose upon intimate relationships and their constituents. Accordingly, the section below outlines specific ways in which EFT practitioners might leverage knowledge of ROCD within key aspects of the model to enhance their work with this population.

Assessment of Presenting Issues. Given their explicit focus on resolving relationship conflict and dissatisfaction, emotionally focused therapists should heed suggestions that practitioners evaluate whether clients presenting with such issues may be suffering from ROCD (Kuru, 2022; Özel, 2021). It is recommended that this assessment occur within the very first step of EFT, wherein practitioners identify the conflictual issues which have brought the couple to therapy. Of course, it may be difficult for emotionally focused therapists to recognize when ROCD is present due its status as a relatively-novel, unknown condition whose symptoms may be hidden by sufferers due to associated stigma and/or mistaken for typical relationship concerns. Therefore, knowledge of ROCD symptomatology as well as the types of clients most likely to exhibit this disorder (e.g., young adults in newer, less-committed relationships and those from cultures which emphasize love over practicality in the choosing of a romantic partner) would undoubtedly be an asset for practitioners of this modality. If ROCD is suspected, emotionally focused therapists should also know to, first, assess for the presence of general OCD symptoms by utilizing the structured interviews and measures recommended by Doron and Derby (2017) before administering the ROCI, PROCSI, and ODIS. If not qualified to do the above, it is recommended that they, instead, refer clients to a professional who is.

If ROCD symptoms are present, even at a subclinical level, it is advised that clinicians practicing EFT utilize their knowledge of this disorder to gain a comprehensive understanding of the client's idiosyncratic experience of it. This would include gathering information pertaining to ROCD's onset, development, and nature (i.e., the specific obsessions and compulsions which the client experiences, as well as their triggers, frequency, and severity). Any of the factors implicated in ROCD's etiology which may be relevant to the client's specific presentation of this condition should also be investigated thoroughly, particularly their potential possession of an insecure attachment style (i.e., anxious or avoidant). Such investigation will also undoubtedly require inquiry into their family, relationship, and attachment histories. Likewise, pertinent information should be gathered about any deleterious impacts

which the client's symptoms have had on themselves, their partner, and/or their relationship (e.g., conflict, relationship dissatisfaction, and/or sexual dysfunction). In gathering this information, it may be helpful for the EFT practitioner to begin conceptualizing the sufferer's experience of ROCD in terms of proximal and distal stressors. For these individuals, proximal stressors may include their particular symptom presentations (e.g., obsessions relating to fear of abandonment and/or compulsive avoidance of discussions about commitment), as well as their specific etiological underpinnings (e.g., extreme love beliefs), and/or impacts (e.g., internalized shame and negative self-perceptions). Conversely, distal stressors might include any sociocultural views which contribute to these ROCD-specific proximal stressors, including the prevailing emphasis in many cultures on finding one's soulmate and/or the stigma surrounding mental disorders and, more specifically, ROCD.

Answers should also be sought about the client's current level of knowledge about OCD and ROCD and, accordingly, their potential need for psychoeducation on these topics. Likewise, it should be determined whether they have and/or are currently seeking individual treatment for either disorder, including through pharmacological means. Such data may inform a practitioner's determination that a given client is ready to engage in EFT alongside their partner, even if this is done in parallel to individual CBT, or, conversely, whether it may be more appropriate for them to complete a course of the latter prior to doing so. Such a decision should also be made in a holistic manner, utilizing all of the information gathered above and in particular consideration of the severity of a client's symptoms, their current level of functioning, as well as their capacity to regulate their emotions while discussing their relationship in the presence of their partner.

Therapists should also know to undertake the above assessments within the individual, private sessions which are typically conducted with each partner at the beginning of EFT. This would not only facilitate a client's forthcomingness about their symptoms in spite of the intense shame and/or guilt which may accompany them, but mitigate the risk of between-partner symptom contagion. Accordingly,

if either client exhibits ROCD symptoms, it would also be wise to ascertain whether they have already disclosed them to their partner and, if so, in what capacity this took place, what impacts this might have had (i.e., on the sufferer, their partner, and/or their relationship), as well as what their partner's current level of knowledge about OCD and ROCD might be. If ROCD symptoms are present, but disclosure has not occurred, the practitioner should work with the sufferer to determine whether doing so might be of benefit. If it is likely to be, they may then discuss with the client how this might best be done (e.g., through psychoeducation and emphasis on generalities, rather than specific details). If disclosing a sufferer's symptoms to their partner is not likely to be of help, this may serve as a contraindication to EFT and the therapist may need to make appropriate referrals for the couple rather than proceed with treatment.

knowledge of the stressors which may impact clients from a given population allows therapists to broach these in conversation with them during the first step of EFT and, consequently, to establish the therapeutic alliance through empathy, acceptance, validation, and normalization of their experiences. To do the above with couples impacted by ROCD, EFT practitioners may exercise transparency through appropriate self-disclosure, perhaps about times in which they have similarly experienced anxiety due to uncertainty about a romantic relationship and/or pressure to find their soulmate. Likewise, they may wish to discuss their own experiences of internalized shame due to the stigma associated with mental illness, particularly if they have ever suffered from OCD and/or ROCD symptoms themselves. At the same time, therapists are cautioned against making assumptions about the stressors which clients have endured merely because the latter have exhibited ROCD symptoms. Instead, they are encouraged to couch these conversations in curiosity about clients' particular experiences, monitor for discomfort as they unfold, leave room to be corrected if assumptions are mistakenly made, and repair any ruptures which might occur as a result.

At times, the above discussions may need to be more psychoeducational in nature and, thus, require an additional level of depth to the practitioner's understanding of ROCD. This may particularly be the case when their initial assessment determines that one or both of the partners have limited and/or no knowledge of OCD and/or ROCD. In such instances, it is advised that the therapist provide the couple with information about the general OCD cycle and on ROCD, specifically, including the intrusive, illogical, and ego-dystonic nature of its symptoms, as well as its various etiological underpinnings and impacts. Distribution of reading materials to clients and their adjunctive use of mobile apps such as GGRO may be of particular utility in this endeavour. As a general rule of thumb, clinicians should also discuss the above in a relatively-broad manner, emphasizing process (e.g., ROCD's generic impacts on sufferers and their partners) over content (e.g., detailed description of sufferers' symptoms) so as not to trigger attachment insecurities in one's partner through symptom contagion.

The benefits of doing the above may be multi-faceted. Indeed, psychoeducating clients about the nature of ROCD early on in the EFT process may allow the practitioner to demonstrate expertise on the subject and, thus, immediately step into an authoritative role, potentially bolstering task alliance and, consequently, positive therapeutic outcomes. Likewise, it may work to legitimize, normalize, destigmatize, and externalize ROCD as an issue, as is done with clients' negative interaction cycles during the fourth step of EFT. In turn, this may mitigate the impacts of proximal stressors associated with ROCD (i.e., internalized stigma, shame, guilt, and/or negative self-perceptions) and, thus, the sufferer's resistance to the overall therapy process. Further, it might lay the foundation for the therapist to reference ROCD as an influential factor within a couple's experience of attachment-related distress, negative perceptions of self, and, thus, maladaptive patterns of interaction within subsequent steps of the EFT model (see below).

Consulting on Process. Within their roles as process consultants, emotionally focused therapists are tasked with elucidating clients' negative interaction cycles and facilitating their attendance to and

deepening of their emotional experiences such that they recognize how these may contribute to the former (Johnson, 2019a, 2019b). Likewise, they aim to enable clients to modify these maladaptive patterns of interaction by sharing their emotional experiences such that they re-engage with one another (Johnson, 2019a, 2019b). Through thorough awareness and understanding of ROCD, EFT practitioners should recognize that these processes may be incredibly challenging for couples impacted by this disorder. Indeed, while ROCD sufferers may struggle with experiential avoidance and emotional regulation in general, they may also experience significant obsession-related distress due to the mere presence of their partners, let alone discussion of their relationships, and/or any accompanying negative feelings. Additionally, both sufferers and their partners may be prone to responding to one another with frustration, irritation, anger, and even aggression due to their experience of ROCD-related conflict. Fortunately, knowledge of ROCD may allow emotionally focused therapists to anticipate such challenges and, thus, identify optimal ways to guide clients through these processes.

Elucidating Negative Interaction Cycles. As emotionally focused therapists work to identify the particular negative interaction cycle which a couple impacted by ROCD has co-created during the second step of this modality, they might rely upon their knowledge of these individuals' behavioural tendencies. For example, given Doron, Derby, and Szepsenwol (2014)'s observation that ROCD sufferers may engage in compulsive behaviours marked by clinging and dependence, leading their partners to withdraw, it is likely that EFT practitioners might encounter the pursue-withdraw cycle which Johnson (2019a) has described as archetypal of many distressed couples. However, emotionally focused therapists might also expect this pattern to occur in reverse, with the ROCD sufferer compulsively withdrawing due to their partner's presence serving as an obsessive trigger, causing their partner to respond with pursuit due to their own fear of abandonment, as might develop through symptom contagion. In other instances, some combination of the above might occur, with each partner pursuing or withdrawing from one another at different times. Regardless, by developing a mental playbook of the ways in which these clients might

interact with one another, clinicians may be better able to recognize the exact pattern of conflict which may be plaguing a given couple's relationship. Consequently, it may be easier for them to highlight this cycle for the couple and, thus, externalize it from them within the fourth step of EFT, as well as to determine which partner should be encouraged to share first during step five (Johnson, 2019a, 2019b).

Facilitating Attendance to and Deepening of Emotional Experience. Familiarity with the ways in which ROCD sufferers and their partners commonly feel might assist emotionally focused therapists as they facilitate clients' attendance to and, subsequently, deepening of their emotional experiences in steps three and four of this model, respectively (Johnson, 2019a). Indeed, similar to the development of a mental playbook, as described above, knowledge of these clients' typical emotions might provide EFT practitioners with a mental thesaurus of feeling words (e.g., furious, terrified, and guilty) through which to better recognize, reflect, and/or validate their experiences. Likewise, knowledge of ROCD's various etiological factors and impacts might afford EFT practitioners valuable insight into these clients' deeper feelings and, consequently, enable them to assist the latter in examining their core emotions (Johnson, 2019a). For example, a clinician utilizing EFT may initially reflect a client's description of a relatively-accessible secondary emotion, such as irritability. However, given their knowledge that ROCD may be related to attachment insecurity, self-vulnerabilities, maladaptive beliefs about love and relationships, and negative self-perceptions, EFT practitioners may also interpret this irritability as stemming from a core emotion such as fear, perhaps of being abandoned by one's partner, single (and, thus, worthless), and/or unworthy of love.

At this point in the EFT process, practitioners should continue to share information about ROCD with clients through psychoeducation, specifically on its etiology and impacts. This may provide sufferers and their partners with important context for the aforementioned interpretations and, consequently, greater opportunity, during EFT's fourth step, to consider how their emotional experiences, rooted in attachment needs as well as understandings of love, relationships, and self, may contribute to their

negative interaction cycles (Johnson, 2019a). In facilitating this latter understanding, it may be particularly helpful to invoke the CAM and highlight similarities between its various components (i.e., dysfunctional appraisal and resulting distress, obsessions, and compulsions) as well as the key elements of emotion identified by Arnold (1960, as cited in Johnson, 2019a) (i.e., their triggers, associated perceptions and meanings, and resulting action tendencies).

Fostering Re-Engagement and Modification of Negative Interaction Cycles. Given that romantic partners who have been impacted by ROCD may struggle with emotional dysregulation and reactivity, emotionally focused therapists should recognize the need to centre these clients' senses of safety in stage two of this model as they foster re-engagement and, thus, modification of their negative interaction cycles (Johnson, 2019a, 2019b). While clients will ideally be less reactive by this point in the process, it is critical that clinicians continue to monitor for and address signs of significant distress, as this may hinder a couple's reciprocal sharing of emotional understandings and, thus, ability to derive positive therapeutic outcomes from EFT (Johnson, 2019a, 2019b). Accordingly, EFT practitioners should be prepared to use a particularly-soothing tone of voice, slice thin certain interventions, and, thus, work slowly with this population, potentially even planning to extend the course of therapy beyond the typical number of sessions from the very outset of treatment (Johnson, 2019a). Likewise, they should continue to psychoeducate clients about ROCD and its potential impacts to maintain control of the sessions, but also to convey that they are understanding, attuned to, and validating of their hardships.

Addressing Between-Partner Symptom Contagion. The contagion of ROCD symptoms between partners, especially fears about being abandoned by one another, may result in some of the most intense manifestations of attachment-related distress and, thus, emotional dysregulation and reactivity which emotionally focused therapists might encounter in working with couples impacted by this condition. However, through understanding of the role that attachment insecurity may play in ROCD's etiology, EFT practitioners might also recognize opportunities to reframe each partner's obsessive

doubts and/or compulsions about their relationship and/or partner as stemming from their longing for certainty about their attachment bond with one another. To this end, emotionally focused therapists may find it especially helpful to interpret the relative intensity of a sufferer's ROCD-related distress as a signal that their symptoms have challenged something which is extremely valuable to them, thus soothing any doubts which they may have about their love for their partner and/or quelling the latter's fear of abandonment. Likewise, highlighting a sufferer's attempts to address their ROCD symptoms and experience of relationship distress by coming to therapy may dispel their partner's abandonment fears by alluding to the former's motivation to ensure the continuation of their relationship. By incorporating psychoeducation into the above steps, a clinician may also work to further externalize, normalize, and destigmatize the issue of ROCD, bolstering a couple's sense of agency in managing it along with their attachment security (Johnson, 2019a, 2019b).

In examining this issue, emotionally focused therapists might also recognize that an ROCD sufferer's disclosure of their intrusive doubts about their romantic relationship and/or partner to the latter may constitute a source of attachment injury, particularly if coinciding with compulsive avoidance of the partner. Indeed, the literature suggests that such a revelation may lead one's partner to feel betrayed and/or to develop attachment-related concerns pertaining to the sufferer's responsiveness, trustworthiness, and/or fidelity (Doron, Derby, and Szepsenwol, 2014; Doron, 2017; Littman et al., 2023), all of which are hallmarks of previously-documented sources of attachment injury (Halchuk et al., 2010; Johnson & Williams-Keeler, 1998; Makinen & Johnson, 2006). Accordingly, in situations in which between-partner symptom contagion has occurred, practitioners may opt to mitigate its potential deleterious effects on the EFT process by implementing the steps of the AIRM. Like imagery reprocessing, which Doron & Derby (2017) have promoted as a potentially-beneficial means of addressing attachment insecurities with individual ROCD sufferers, the steps of the AIRM may provide clients with an opportunity to revisit and, thus, repair key moments of attachment rupture. However,

through the AIRM, this may be accomplished in a less-abstract, more-enacted, and dyadic manner, thus making it a relatively-powerful intervention for couples impacted by the between-partner contagion of ROCD symptoms.

Addressing Symptom Accommodation. Emotionally focused therapists well-informed about ROCD might also anticipate ways in which their promotion of responsiveness between partners impacted by this disorder may, ironically, facilitate, rather than mitigate their experience of relationship distress. Indeed, if ROCD sufferers' vulnerable sharing of their emotional experiences with their partners takes the form of compulsive reassurance-seeking which is then accommodated by the latter, their symptoms may be sustained and/or exacerbated, potentially perpetuating and/or worsening ROCD's impacts on the couple. Accordingly, as EFT practitioners encourage these clients to share with and respond to one another, it is critical that they ensure this be done in the thoughtful, intentional manner described by Johnson (2019a, 2019b) to foster a relatively-deep, lasting, and felt sense of attachment, rather than in a superficial way which merely dispels ROCD-related distress in the short-term.

To do this, EFT practitioners might, once again, turn to psychoeducation. By informing ROCD sufferers and their partners about the dangers of symptom accommodation, emotionally focused therapists can facilitate the former's recognition of their need to abstain from requesting and/or offering this misguided form of support as they share their attachment-related emotional understandings with each other. To the extent that this sharing may constitute a type of behavioural exposure (Johnson, 2019a), it also becomes critical for clients to recognize their need to, instead, offer aid and support to their partners during this process to maximize its benefits (Doron, Mizrahi, et al., 2014). To this end, it is notable that, when exposure tasks are used to treat similar issues (i.e., OCD and relationship anxiety), outcomes may be enhanced by psychoeducating impacted couples about symptom accommodation as well as by having them be emotionally open with and encouraging of one another (Abramowitz et al., 2012; Paprocki & Baucom, 2015). Indeed, this seems to hint that, if partners

impacted by ROCD are educated about and, thus, abstain from engaging in symptom accommodation, but also adhere to EFT's principles of vulnerable and responsive communication, the process of sharing their emotional experiences with one another may be of greater benefit to them.

Concluding Thoughts

This capstone research project sought to raise awareness and understanding of ROCD amongst therapists and to provide those who conduct couples therapy with recommendations for how they might best support partners impacted by this condition. Its first chapter laid the framework for the investigation which followed, introducing ROCD as a relatively-new and unexplored, yet consequential theme of OCD. It also outlined the rationale for this exploration, namely, the lack of scholarship and practitioner knowledge about ROCD and, in particular, guidelines for the treatment of couples impacted by it. It then provided the reader with the theoretical and conceptual frameworks utilized within the project, a statement of reflectivity and positionality from the author, an outline of subsequent chapters, as well as the definitions of key terms used therein.

Chapter two consisted of a comprehensive literature review composed of two subsections, the first of which served to educate the reader about critical information on ROCD, including findings on its two distinct symptom types (i.e., RCOC and PFOC) and their assessment, as well as the epidemiology (e.g., prevalence and geographic distribution) and etiological factors (e.g., attachment insecurity) of this disorder. ROCD's numerous, significant impacts on sufferers, their romantic relationships, and, thus, partners (e.g., relationship dissatisfaction and infidelity concerns) were also described, along with recommendations for the treatment of this disorder in both individual and dyadic contexts (e.g., through CBT and psychoeducation, respectively). The second subsection introduced the reader to EFT, an attachment-based, systemic, and experiential modality of couples therapy which may be of particular benefit to clients impacted by ROCD. Emotionally focused therapists' roles as model attachment figures and process consultants were also illustrated, as were the various interventions which these

practitioners may utilize (i.e., the five moves of the EFT tango). Following this, the sequence of EFT and its various stages (i.e., de-escalation of negative interaction cycles, changing interactional patterns and restructuring attachment, and consolidation and integration) as well as their steps were highlighted, along with findings related to this modality's efficacy and effectiveness as a treatment for relationship distress. Relevant process variables (i.e., the development of the therapeutic relationship, depth of clients' experiential processing, and their sense of affiliation with one another) were then discussed, along with recommendations for the use of EFT with specific populations (i.e., attachment-injured couples and gay men).

Finally, the third chapter of this project synthesized findings from the above literature review, highlighting EFT's potential benefit for couples impacted by ROCD, particularly as an adjunct to individual therapy. It also provided practitioners with specific recommendations about ways in which they might leverage knowledge of ROCD within different facets of the EFT model to best serve these couples. Such recommendations included conducting comprehensive assessment for and, potentially, diagnosis of ROCD, the use of psychoeducation to foster the therapeutic alliance, and reliance upon knowledge of this condition's etiology and impacts to bolster one's ability to consult with clients on process. Suggestions were also provided about ways in which EFT practitioners might address critical ROCD-related issues, including the between-partner contagion and/or accommodation of its symptoms.

While it is my hope that this project has further legitimized ROCD as an issue which warrants therapists' attention as well as armed those who work with couples with the knowledge sufficient to benefit those impacted by it, there is much work yet to be done in this area. Indeed, though it is heartening that there has been increased attention paid to ROCD in the academic literature over the past decade, further scholarship is needed on this topic, particularly from a wider range of researchers and through more advanced, empirically-rigorous methodologies. Ideally, such research will be facilitated by the formal recognition of ROCD as a distinct OCD subtype by the APA, IOCDF, and/or other

organizations in the near future. Additionally, noting ROCD's numerous serious impacts on sufferers' romantic relationships and partners, more research examining how they might be supported together in therapy is a dire need at this time. Indeed, this project remains but one of a few to examine this particular topic, if not the only to do so in a relatively-comprehensive manner. Regardless, the findings of this project behoove couples therapists to familiarize themselves with ROCD as a clinical issue which they are likely to encounter if they have not already done so.

References

- Aardema, F., Moulding, R., Radomsky, A. S., Doron, G., Allamby, J., & Souki, E. (2013). Fear of self and obsessionality: Development and validation of the fear of self questionnaire. *Journal of Obsessive Compulsive and Related Disorders*, 2(3), 306–315.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocrd.2013.05.005
- Abak, E. (2019). Ruminatif düşünme stili, beden algısı ve sosyal görünüş kaygısının romantik ilişki ve partner odaklı obsesif kompulsif semptomlarla ilişkisi [The relationship between ruminative thinking style, body image and social appearance anxiety to romantic relationship centered and partner-focused obsessive compulsive symptoms] (Publication No. 555167) [Master's thesis, Ankara Yıldırım Beyazıt Üniversitesi]. DSpace@AYBU (Ankara Yıldırım Beyazıt Üniversitesi Akademik Arşiv Sistemi). https://acikbilim.yok.gov.tr/handle/20.500.12812/702834
- Abak, E., & Güzel, H. Ş. (2021). Ruminatif düşünme stili, beden algısı ve sosyal görünüş kaygısının romantik ilişki ve partner odaklı obsesif kompulsif semptom-larla ilişkisi [The relationship between ruminative thinking style, body image and social appearance anxiety to romantic relationship centered and partner-focused obsessive compulsive symptoms]. *Klinik Psikiyatri Dergisi, 24*(3), 368-382. https://doi.org/10.5505/kpd.2021.14632
- Abramowitz, J. S., Deacon, B. J., Olatunji, B. O., Wheaton, M. G., Berman, N. C., Losardo, D., Timpano, K. R., McGrath, P. B., Riemann, B. C., Adams, T., Björgvinsson, T., Storch, E. A., & Hale, L. R. (2010).

 Assessment of obsessive-compulsive symptom dimensions: Development and evaluation of the dimensional obsessive-compulsive scale. *Psychological Assessment*, *22*(1), 180–198.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018260
- Abramowitz, J., Wheaton, M., Boeding, S. Fabricant, L. Paprocki, C., & Fischer, M. (2012). Enhancing exposure and response prevention for OCD: A couple-based approach. *Behavior Modification,* 37(2). https://doi.org/10.1177/0145445512444596

- Açar, Ş. (2022). Ebeveynleşme, partnere bağlı benlik değeri, obsesif inançlar ve obsesif güvensizliğin partner odaklı obsesif kompulsif belirtilerle ilişkisinin incelenmesi [The relationship of parentification, partner contingent self worth, obsessive beliefs and obsessive distrust with partner focused obsessive compulsive symptoms] [Master's thesis, Hacettepe Üniversitesi].

 Hacettepe Üniversitesi Açık Erişim Sistemi (HÜAES).

 https://openaccess.hacettepe.edu.tr/xmlui/bitstream/handle/11655/26227/%c4%b0MZASIZ.10
 356219.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- Akkaya, G., & Yılmaz, T. (2021). Romantik ilişkilerde görülen obsesif kompulsif belirtiler ve risk faktörleri [Obsessive compulsive symptoms and risk factors seen in romantic relationships]. *AYNA Klinik**Psikiyatri Dergisi, 8(3), 376-395. https://doi.org/10.31682/ayna.882836
- Allan, R., & Johnson, S. M. (2017). Conceptual and application issues: Emotionally focused therapy with gay male couples. *Journal of Couple & Relationship Therapy, 16*(4), 286-305. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332691.2016.1238800
- American Psychiatric Association. (n.d.). *APA dictionary of psychology.*https://dictionary.apa.org/cognitive-behavior-therapy
- American Psychiatric Association. (2022). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed., text rev.). https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.books.9780890425787
- Bakçepinar, E. (2019). Romantik ilişki ve partner temalı obsesyon ve kompulsiyonların şema alanları açısından incelenmesi [Examination of romantic relationship and partner themed obsessions and compulsions in terms of schema domains] (Publication No. 608806) [Master's thesis, Başkent Üniversitesi]. DSpace@Başkent (Başkent Üniversitesi Akademik Arşiv Sistemi). https://tez.yok.gov.tr/UlusalTezMerkezi/tezDetay.jsp?id=_MP0SqGmkKFkS-vfXmgRxg&no=TX8xfgLOSPJwBriU3qkDRg
- Balcı, E. S. (2021). The predictive role of insecure attachment styles on relationship centered and partner

focused obsessive compulsive symptoms: The mediator role of relationship satisfaction and intention of infidelity [Master's thesis, Başkent Üniversitesi]. DSpace@Başkent (Başkent Üniversitesi Akademik Arşiv Sistemi).

http://dspace.baskent.edu.tr/handle/11727/6424?show=full

- Bar On, D. (2020, June 21). The little known disorder tearing romantic relationships apart. *Haaretz*. https://www.haaretz.com/world-news/2020-06-21/ty-article-magazine/.premium/the-little-known-disorder-tearing-romantic-relations-apart/0000017f-f46b-d887-a7ff-fcef24db0000
- Beasley, C. C., & Ager, R. (2019). Emotionally focused couples therapy: A systematic review of its effectiveness over the past 19 years. *Journal of Evidence-Based Social Work, (16)*2, 144-159. https://doi.org/10.1080/23761407.2018.1563013

Bertalanffy, L. (1969). General system theory: Foundations, development, applications. George Braziller.

- Bilge, Y., Yılmaz, M., Hüroğlu, G., & Tikici, Z. A. (2022). The effects of adverse childhood experiences and early maladaptive schemas on relationship obsessive—compulsive disorder. *Trends in Psychology, 1-19.* https://doi.org/10.1007/s43076-022-00245-9
- Boulton, E. (2020). 'One dead bedroom': Exploring the impact of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder (OCD) on women's lived experience of sex and sexuality [Doctoral dissertation, University of the West of England]. UWE Bristol Research Repository. https://uwe-repository.worktribe.com/output/1906784

Bowlby, J. (1969). Attachment and loss: Volume 1. Attachment. Basic Books.

Bowlby, J. (1973). Attachment and loss. Volume 2: Separation: Anxiety and anger. Basic Books.

Bowlby, J. (1980). Attachment and loss: Volume 3. Loss, sadness, and depression. Basic Books.

Bowlby, J. (1988). A secure base: Parent-child attachment and healthy human development. Basic Books.

Brandes, O., Stern, A., & Doron, G. (2020). "I just can't trust my partner": Evaluating associations between untrustworthiness obsessions, relationship obsessions and couples violence.

- Journal of Obsessive-Compulsive and Related Disorders, 24, Article e100500. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocrd.2019.100500
- Brennan, K. A., Clark, C. L., & Shaver, P. R. (1998). Self-report measurement of adult attachment: An integrative overview. In J. A. Simpson & W. S. Rholes (Eds.), *Attachment theory and close relationships* (pp. 46–76). The Guilford Press.
- Brubacher, L. (2015, May 20). EFT's Attachment Injury Resolution Model (AIRM): The path to repairing broken bonds and rebuilding trust [PowerPoint slides]. Scribd.

 https://www.scribd.com/document/401135579/tematica-2015-psih
- Brubacher, L. (2017). Distinguishing emotionally focused therapy from emotion-focused therapy.

 Winnipeg emotionally focused therapy training & consulting.

 https://www.lbrubacher.com/wp/wp-content/uploads/Distinguishing-Emotionally-Focused-from-Emotion-focused.pdf
- Brubacher, L. L., & Wiebe, S. A. (2019). Process-research to practice in emotionally focused couple therapy: A map for reflective practice. *Journal of Family Psychotherapy, 30*(4), 292–313. https://doi.org/10.1080/08975353.2019.1679608
- Burgess Moser, M., Dalgleish, T. L., Elliott, C., Johnson, S. M., Lafontaine, M. F., Tasca, G. A., & Wiebe, S. A. (2018). Attachment change in emotionally focused couple therapy and sexual satisfaction outcomes in a two-year follow-up study. *Journal of Couple and Relationship Therapy, 18*(1), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332691.2018.1481799
- Caccico, L., Melli, G., Bulli, F., Gelli, S., Micheli, E., & Doron, G. (2019, July 17-20). *Pathological narcissism and Relationship Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder (ROCD) symptoms* [Paper presentation]. 9th

 World Congress of Behavioural and Cognitive Therapies, Berlin, Germany.

 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/334654717_Pathological_Narcissism_and_Relations
 hip_Obsessive-Compulsive_Disorder_ROCD_Symptoms

- Cannon, J. L., & Boccone, P. J. (2019). Addressing attachment injuries with bisexual clients and their monosexual partners during the coming out process. *Journal of Bisexuality, 19*(1), 120–127. https://doi.org/10.1080/15299716.2019.1567434
- Cebeci, B. (2019). Evlilik doyumunun eş desteği ve ilişki içerikli obsesif-kompulsif semptomlar ile ilişkileri [The relationship of marital satisfaction with couple support and relationship obsessive-compulsive symptoms] (Publication No. 563334) [Master's thesis, Maltepe Üniversitesi]. DSpace@Maltepe (Maltepe Üniversitesi Kurumsal Akademik Arşiv). https://acikbilim.yok.gov.tr/handle/20.500.12812/663001
- Cerea, S., Ghisi, M., Bottesi, G, Carrara, E., Broggio, D, & Doron, G. (2020). Reaching reliable change using short, daily, cognitive training exercises delivered on a mobile application: The case of Relationship Obsessive Compulsive Disorder (ROCD) symptoms and cognitions in a subclinical cohort. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *276*, 775-787. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.07.043
- Chapman, D. M., & Caldwell, B. E. (2012). Attachment injury resolution in couples when one partner is trans-identified. *Journal of Systemic Therapies*, *31*(2), 36-53. https://doi.org/10.1521/jsyt.2012.31.2.36
- Clark, D. A. (2019). Cognitive-behavioral therapy for OCD and its subtypes (2nd ed.). Guilford Press.
- Clark, D. A., & Radomsky, A. S. (2014). Introduction: A global perspective on unwanted intrusive thoughts. *Journal of Obsessive-Compulsive and Related Disorders, 3*(3), 265–268. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocrd.2014.02.001
- Dalgleish, T. L., Johnson, S. M., Burgess Moser, M., Wiebe, S. A., & Tasca, G. A. (2015). Predicting key change events in emotionally focused couple therapy. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy,* 41(3), 260–275. https://doi.org/10.1111/jmft.1210
- Dar, R., Lazarov, A., & Liberman, N. (2021). Seeking proxies for internal states (SPIS): Towards a novel model of obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Behaviour Research and Therapy, 147*, Article e103987.

- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2021.103987
- Dar-Perl, T. (2018). "I'm not sure about our relationship": Examining the associations between

 Relationship Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder (ROCD) symptoms and partners' well-being

 [Unpublished master's thesis]. Interdisciplinary Center Herzliya.
- Dehaqin, V., Besharat, M. A., Gholamali Lavasani, M., & Naghsh, Z. (2023). The effectiveness of paradoxical therapy on relational practical obsessive-compulsive symptoms. *Journal of Adolescent and Youth Psychological Studies*, *4*(4), 118-133. https://doi.org/10.61838/kman.jayps.4.4.12
- Dehghani, M. & Dehghani, Y. (2023). Comparison of attachment injury resolution model and integrative couple therapy on trust reconstruction among the injured women by marital infidelity. *The American Journal of Family Therapy*, *51*(3), 283-301.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/01926187.2021.1967223
- Derby, D., Tibi, L., & Doron, G. (2021): Sexual dysfunction in relationship obsessive compulsive disorder.

 Sexual and Relationship Therapy, 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1080/14681994.2021.2009793
- Di Leonardo, L. (2018). *Narcisismo patologico e sintomi ossessivo-compulsivi focalizzati sulle relazioni intime* [Pathological narcissism and obsessive-compulsive symptoms focused on intimate

 relationships] [Master's thesis, University of Pisa]. University of Pisa Electronic Thesis and

 Dissertation (ETD) Archive. https://etd.adm.unipi.it/t/etd-10212018-235915/
- Doron, G. (2017, September 13-16). *Unmediated exposure to romantic partners' ROCD symptoms: An experimental investigation* [Paper presentation]. 47th Annual Congress of the European Association for Behavioural and Cognitive Therapies (EACBT), Ljubljana, Slovenia.
- Doron, G. (2020). Self-vulnerabilities, attachment and Obsessive Compulsive Disorder (OCD) symptoms: Examining the moderating role of attachment security on fear of self.

 **Journal of Obsessive-Compulsive and Related Disorders, 27, Article e100575.

- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocrd.2020.100575
- Doron, G., & Derby, D. (n.d.). *Relationship OCD*. International OCD Foundation. https://iocdf.org/expert-opinions/relationship-ocd/
- Doron, G., & Derby, D. (2017). Assessment and treatment of relationship-related OCD symptoms

 (ROCD): A modular approach. In J. S., Abramowitz, D., McKay, & E. A. Storch (Eds.), *The Wiley handbook of obsessive compulsive disorders* (pp. 547-564). John Wiley & Sons Ltd.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118890233.ch30
- Doron, G., Derby, D. S., & Szepsenwol, O. (2014). Relationship Obsessive Compulsive Disorder (ROCD): A conceptual framework. *Journal of Obsessive-Compulsive and Related Disorders, 3*(2), 169–180. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocrd.2013.12.005
- Doron, G., Derby, D. S., & Szepsenwol, O. (2017). "I can't stop thinking about my child's flaws": An investigation of parental preoccupation with their children's perceived flaws. *Journal of Obsessive-Compulsive and Related Disorders, 14*, 106-111.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocrd.2017.06.007
- Doron, G., Derby, D., Szepsenwol, O., Nahaloni, E., & Moulding, R. (2016). Relationship obsessive-compulsive disorder: Interference, symptoms, and maladaptive beliefs. *Frontiers in Psychiatry,*7, Article e00058. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2016.00058
- Doron, G., Derby, D. S., Szepsenwol, O., & Talmor, D. (2012a). Flaws and all: Exploring partner-focused obsessive-compulsive symptoms. *Journal of Obsessive-Compulsive and Related Disorders*, 1(4), 234–243. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocrd.2012.05.004
- Doron, G., Derby, D. S., Szepsenwol, O., & Talmor, D. (2012b). Tainted love: Exploring relationship-centered obsessive compulsive symptoms in two non-clinical cohorts. *Journal of Obsessive-Compulsive and Related Disorders*, 1(1), 16–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocrd.2011.11.002
- Doron, G., & Kyrios, M. (2005). Obsessive compulsive disorder: A review of possible specific internal

- representations within a broader cognitive theory. *Clinical Psychology Review, 25(4)*, 415-432. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2005.02.002
- Doron, G., Mizrahi, M., Szepsenwol, O., & Derby, D. (2014). Right or flawed: Relationship obsessions and sexual satisfaction. *The Journal of Sexual Medicine*, *11*(9), 2218-2224. https://doi.org/10.1111/jsm.12616
- Doron, G., & Szepsenwol, O. (2015). Partner focused obsessions and self-esteem: An experimental investigation. *Journal of Behavior Therapy & Experimental Psychiatry, 49*(Pt. B), 173-179. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbtep.2015.05.007
- Doron, G., Szepsenwol, O., Derby, D. S., & Nahaloni, E. (2012). Relationship-related obsessive-compulsive phenomena: The case of relationship-centred and partner-focused obsessive compulsive symptoms [Monograph]. *Psicoterapia Cognitiva e Comportamentale, 18,* 71-82. https://clinicalev.co.il/wp-content/doc/102.pdf
- Doron, G., Szepsenwol, O., Karp, E., & Gal, N. (2013). Obsessing about intimate relationships: Testing the double relationship-vulnerability hypothesis. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, 44(4), 433–440. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbtep.2013.05.003
- Doss, B. D., Roddy, M. K., Wiebe, S. A., & Johnson, S. M. (2022). A review of the research during 2010–2019 on evidence-based treatments for couple relationship distress. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, *48*(1), 283-306. https://doi.org/10.1111/jmft.12552
- Eidelson, R. J., & Epstein, N. (1982). *Relationship Belief Inventory (RBI)* [Database record]. APA PsycTests. https://doi.org/10.1037/t24640-000
- Elliott, R., Watson, J. C., Goldman, R. N., & Greenberg, L. S. (2003). *Learning emotion-focused therapy:*The process experiential approach to change. American Psychological Association.
- Fernandez, S., Sevil, C., & Moulding, R. (2021). Feared self and dimensions of obsessive compulsive symptoms: Sexual orientation-obsessions, relationship obsessions, and general OCD symptoms.

- Journal of Obsessive-Compulsive and Related Disorders, 28, Article e100608. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocrd.2020.100608
- Foa, E. B., Huppert, J. D., Leiberg, S., Langner, R., Kichic, R., & Hajcak, G. (2002). The obsessive-compulsive inventory: Development and validation of a short version. *Psychological Assessment,* 14(4), 485–496.
- Ghomian, S., Shaeiri, M. R., & Farahani, H. (2019a). Factor structure, validity and reliability of PROCSI; A questionnaire to measure relationship obsessive compulsive disorder. *Journal of Fundamentals of Mental Health*, *21*(5), 303-314. https://doi.org/10.22038/JFMH.2019.14811
- Ghomian, S., Shaeiri, M. -R., & Farahani, H. (2019b). Psychometric features of relationship obsessive-compulsive inventory: A scale in the field of relationship obsessive-compulsive disorder.

 International Journal of Behavioral Sciences, 12(4), 154-161.

 https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12501574/
- Ghomian, S., Shaeiri, M. R., & Farahani, H. (2021a). Designing the Relationship Obsessive-Compulsive

 Inventory (ROCI) based on Iranian culture and evaluation of its psychometric properties. *Iranian Journal of Psychiatry*, *16*(4), 418-429. https://doi.org/10.18502/ijps.v16i4.7229
- Ghomian, S., Shaeiri, M. R., & Farahani, H. (2021b). Relationship Obsessive Compulsive Disorder (ROCD) in Iranian culture: Symptoms, causes and consequences. *Journal of Fundamentals of Mental Health*, *23*(6), 397-408. https://doi.org/10.22038/JFMH.2021.19322
- Ghomian, S., Shaeiri, M. R., & Farahani, H. (2022a). Designing, factor structure, validity, and reliability of the New Partner-Related Obsessive-Compulsive Symptoms Inventory (New PROCSI): A questionnaire based on Iranian culture. *Journal of Fundamentals of Mental Health, 24*(6), 391-401. https://doi.org/10.22038/jfmh.2022.21465
- Ghomian, S., Shaeiri, M. R., & Farahani, H. (2022b). Obsession improvement in female patients with relationship obsessive compulsive disorder: A single subject study. *Journal of Fundamentals of*

- Mental Health, 24(4), 241-251. https://doi.org/10.22038/JFMH.2022.20769
- Gorelik, M., Szepsenwol, O., & Doron, G. (2023). Promoting couples' resilience to relationship obsessive compulsive disorder (ROCD) symptoms using a CBT-based mobile application: A randomized controlled trial. *Heliyon*, *9*(11), Article e21673. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2023.e21673
- Greenberg, L. S., & Johnson, S. M. (1988). *Emotionally focused therapy for couples*. Guilford Press.
- Greenberg, L. S., Rice, L., & Elliott, R. (1993). *Process-experiential therapy: Facilitating emotional change.*Guilford Publications.
- Greenman, P. S., & Johnson, S. M. (2013). Process research on Emotionally Focused Therapy (EFT) for couples: Linking theory to practice. *Family Process*, 52(1), 46-61. https://doi.org/10.1111/famp.12015
- Güler, B. (2023). Evli bireylerde güvensiz bağlanma, ruminatif düşünme biçimi ve evlilik uyumunun ilişki ve partner odaklı obsesif kompulsif [The relationship between insecure attachment, ruminative thought style, marital adjustment, relationship-centered and partner-focused obsessive compulsive symptoms in married individuals] [Master's thesis, Işık Üniversitesi]. DSpace@Işık Kurumsal Akademik Arşiv (Işık University Institutional Repository).

 https://hdl.handle.net/11729/5692
- Günhan, İ. S. (2021). Investigation of relationship and partner-centered obsessions in borderline

 personality organization in an object relations perspective [Master's thesis, Başkent

 Üniversitesi]. DSpace@Başkent (Başkent Üniversitesi Akademik Arşiv Sistemi).

 http://dspace.baskent.edu.tr/bitstream/handle/11727/6877/10425029.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- Halchuk, R. E., Makinen, J. A., & Johnson, S. M. (2010). Resolving attachment injuries in couples using emotionally focused therapy: A three-year follow-up. *Journal of Couple & Relationship Therapy,* 9(1), 31-47. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332690903473069

- International OCD Foundation. (n.d.). About OCD. https://iocdf.org/about-ocd/
- International OCD Foundation. (2021, March 24). Lunch and learn: Relationship OCD (ROCD) [Video].

 YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/live/bGq_qiWnTeU?feature=share
- Johnson, S. M. (2019a). Attachment theory in practice: Emotionally Focused Therapy (EFT) with individuals, couples, and families. The Guilford Press.
- Johnson, S. M. (2019b). *The practice of emotionally focused couple therapy: Creating connection* (3rd ed.). Brunner/Routledge.
- Johnson, S. M., & Greenman, P. S. (2006). The path to a secure bond: Emotionally focused couple therapy. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *62*(5), 597–609. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.20251
- Johnson, S. M., & Williams-Keeler, L. (1998). Creating healing relationships for couples dealing with trauma: The use of emotionally focused marital therapy. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy,* 24(1), 25-40. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-0606.1998.tb01061.x
- Kabiri, M., Neshat-Doost, H. T., & Mehrabi, H. A. (2017). The mediating role of relationship obsessive-compulsive disorder in relation to attachment styles and marital quality in women. *Journal of Research and Health, 7*(5), 1065-1073. http://jrh.gmu.ac.ir/article-1-1126-en.html
- Kasalova, P., Prasko, J., Ociskova, M., Holubova, M., Vanek, J., Kantor, K., Minarikova, K., Hodny, F., Slepecky, M., & Barnard, L. (2020). Marriage under control: Obsessive compulsive disorder and partnership. *Neuro Endocrinology Letters*, *41*(3), 134-145.
- Kılıç, N., & Altınok, A. (2021). Obsession and relationship satisfaction through the lens of jealousy and rumination. *Personality and Individual Differences, 179*, Article e110959.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2021.110959
- Kuru, E. K. (2022). Üniversite öğrencilerinde ilişki doyumu ve romantik obsesyon ilişkisinin incelenmesi

 [Examining the relationship between relationship satisfaction and romantic obsession in university students] [Master's thesis, İstanbul Gelişim Üniversitesi]. DSpace@İGÜ (İGÜ

- Institutional Open Access Repository).

 https://acikerisim.gelisim.edu.tr/xmlui/handle/11363/3847
- Levy, A., Tibi, L., Szepsenwol, O., & Doron, G. (2020). "Why do I obsess about my child's flaws?"

 Assessing the role of parental self-vulnerabilities in parent-child relationship obsessive compulsive disorder (ROCD) symptoms. *Clinical Psychologist*, *24*(3), 285-293.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/cp.12217
- Littman, R., Leibovits, G., Halfon, C. N., Schonbach, M., & Doron, G. (2023). Interpersonal transmission of ROCD symptoms and susceptibility to infidelity in romantic relationships. *Journal of Obsessive-Compulsive and Related Disorders, 37*, Article e100802. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocrd.2023.100802
- Lombardi, A., & Rodriguez, C. (2019). Enhancing exposure and response prevention treatment in an individual with relationship obsessive-compulsive disorder: A case report. *Journal of Cognitive Psychotherapy*, 33(3), 185-195. https://doi.org/10.1891/0889-8391.33.3.185
- Makinen, J. A., & Johnson, S. M. (2006). Resolving attachment injuries in couples using emotionally focused therapy: Steps toward forgiveness and reconciliation. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 74(6), 1055-1064. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.74.6.1055
- Marcatili, M., Pellicioli, C., Maggioni, L., Motta, F., Redaelli, C., Ghelfi, L., Krivosova, M., Matteo, S., Nava, R., Colmegna, F., Dakanalis, A., Caldiroli, A., Capuzzi, E, Benatti, B., Bertola, F., Villa, N., Piperno, A., Ippolito, S., & Clerici, M. (2021). The use of esketamine in comorbid treatment resistant depression and obsessive compulsive disorder following extensive pharmacogenomic testing: A case report. *Annals of General Psychiatry, 20*(1), Article e43. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12991-021-00365-z
- McHugh O'Leary, E. M. (2007). Cognitive appraisal model of Obsessive Compulsive Disorder (OCD):

 Recent advances. *New Zealand Clinical Psychologist*, *17*(2), 2-8.

- Melli, G., Aardema, F., & Moulding, R. (2016). Fear of self and unacceptable thoughts in obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy, 23*(3), 226–235. https://doi.org/10.1002/cpp.1950
- Melli, G., Bulli, F., Doron, G., & Carraresi, C. (2018). Maladaptive beliefs in relationship obsessive compulsive disorder (ROCD): Replication and extension in a clinical sample. *Journal of Obsessive-Compulsive and Related Disorders*, 18, 47-53.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocrd.2018.06.005
- Melli, G., Carraresi, C., & Doron, G. (2015, August 31-September 3). *The role of perfectionism in relationship obsessive-compulsive disorder (ROCD)* [Paper presentation]. 45th Annual European Association for Behavioural Cognitive Therapies (EABCT) Congress, Jerusalem, Israel.
- Melli, G., Carraresi, C., & Doron, G. (2016, June 22-26). *Examining the cognitive predictors of relationship obsessive-compulsive disorder (ROCD) in a clinical sample* [Paper presentation]. 8th World Congress of Behavioural and Cognitive Therapies, Melbourne, Australia.
- Melli, G., Carraresi, C., Pinto, A., Caccico, L., & Micheli, E. (2018). Valutare il disturbo ossessivocompulsivo da relazione: Proprietà psicometriche della versione italiana di ROCI e PROCSI [Assessing OCD: Psychometric properties of the Italian version of ROCI and PROCSI].

 *Psicoterapia Cognitiva e Comportamentale, 24(3), 251-269.
- Mikulincer, M., & Shaver, P. R. (2007). *Attachment in adulthood: Structure, dynamics, and change.* The Guilford Press.
- Minuchin, S., & Fishman, H. C. (1981). Family therapy techniques. Harvard University Press.
- Mısırlı, M., & Kaynak, G. K. (2023). Romantik ilişki içerikli obsesif kompulsif bozukluk: Sistematik derleme [Relationship obsessive compulsive disorder: A systematic review]. *Psikiyatride Güncel Yaklaşımlar*, *15*(4), 549-561. https://doi.org./10.18863/pgy.120430
- Moulding, R., Aardema, F., & O'Connor, K. P. (2014). Repugnant obsessions: A review of the

- phenomenology, theoretical models, and treatment of sexual and aggressive obsessional themes in OCD. *Journal of Obsessive Compulsive and Related Disorders*, *3* (2), 161–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocrd.2013.11.006
- Naji Meydani, F., Doos Ali Vand, H., Abasi, I., & Noori, M. (2022). Mediating role of difficulties in emotion regulation and experiential avoidance in the relationship between attachment styles and severity of relationship obsessive-compulsive disorder symptoms. *Iranian Journal of Psychiatry and Clinical Psychology*, 28(3), 328-345. https://doi.org/10.32598/ijpcp.28.3.4175.1
- Obsessive Compulsive Cognitions Working Group. (1997). Cognitive assessment of obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *35*(7), 667–681. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0005-7967(97)00017-x
- Orihuela Echevarría, S. (2017). *Intervención de enfermería en un paciente con TOC (Trastorno Obsesivo Compulsivo)* [Nursing intervention in patients with OCD]. [Master's thesis,

 Universidad de Valladolid]. UVaDOC (Universidad de Valladolid Repositorio Documental).

 http://uvadoc.uva.es/handle/10324/35304
- Özel, E. P. (2021). *lişki odaklı ve partner odaklı obsesif kompulsif belirtileri yordamada bağlanma stillerinin ve evlilik uyumunun rolü* [The role of attachment styles and marital adjustment in predicting relationship-centered and partner-focused obsessive compulsive symptoms]

 [Master's thesis, Işık Üniversitesi]. DSpace@Işık Kurumsal Akademik Arşiv (Işık University Institutional Repository). https://hdl.handle.net/11729/3230
- Özel, E. P. & Karaköse, S. (2023). Bağlanma stilleri ile ilişki merkezli ve partner odaklı obsesif kompulsif belirtiler arasındaki ilişkide evlilik uyumunun aracı rolü [The mediator role of marital satisfaction between the attachment styles and relationship centered and partner focused obsessive compulsive symptoms. *Klinik Psikoloji Dergisi, 1*(1), 1-37.

https://dergipark.org.tr/tr/pub/klinikpsikoloji/issue/72538/1226620

- Paprocki, C.M., and Baucom, D.H. (2015). Worried about us: Evaluating an intervention for relationship-based anxiety. *Family Process*, *56*(1), 45-58. https://doi.org/10.1111/famp.12175
- Parlapan Bas, E. (2019). Association of relationship-obsessive compulsive symptoms with depression,
 anxiety and stress: Marriage and child related factors as moderators (Publication No. 551683)

 [Master's thesis, Bolu Abant İzzet Baysal Üniversitesi]. DSpace@BAİBÜ (Bolu Abant İzzet Baysal University Institutional Repository). https://acikbilim.yok.gov.tr/handle/20.500.12812/597718

 Perls, F. S. (1969). Gestalt therapy verbatim. Real People Press.
- Pisheh, R. S., & Jahed, A. M. (2020). Prediction of obsessive beliefs of couples based on narcissism and attachment. *Journal of Family and Health, 10*(1), 99-111.
- Rajaee, S. (2022). Relationship OCD: A CBT-based guide to move beyond obsessive doubt, anxiety, and fear of commitment in romantic relationships. New Harbinger Publications.
- Rezaei, O., Dolotshahi, B., & Tamrchi, S. (2023). Predicting Relationship Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder (ROCD) symptoms and severity based on thought-action fusion, attachment styles, and personality traits. *Minerva*, *64*(3), 389-99. https://doi.org/10.23736/S2724-6612.22.02307-7 ROCD.net. (n.d.-a). *Extreme Love Beliefs Scale (EXLS)*. https://rocd.net/extreme-love-beliefs-scale-exls ROCD.net. (n.d.-b). *Partner value contingent self-worth scale*.

https://rocd.net/partner-value-contingent-self-worth-scale/

- ROCD.net. (n.d.-c). PROCSI description and norms. https://rocd.net/procsi-description-and-norms/
- ROCD.net. (n.d.-d). ROCI & PROCSI translated. https://rocd.net/roci-procsi-translated-2/
- ROCD.net. (n.d.-e). ROCI description and norms. https://rocd.net/description-and-norms/
- Rogers, C. R. (1951). *Client-centered therapy; Its current practice, implications, and theory.* Houghton Mifflin.
- Roncero, M., Belloch, A., & Doron, G. (2018). A novel approach to challenging OCD related beliefs using a mobile-app: An exploratory study. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry, 59*,

- 157-160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbtep.2018.01.008
- Roncero, M, Belloch, A., & Doron, G. (2019). Can brief, daily training using a mobile app help change maladaptive beliefs? Crossover randomized controlled trial. *JMIR mHealth and uHealth, 7*(2), Article e11443. https://doi.org/10.2196/11443
- Salkovskis, P. M. (1985). Obsessional-compulsive problems: A cognitive-behavioural analysis. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *23*(5), 571-583. https://doi.org/10.1016/0005-7967(85)90105-6
- Salkovskis, P. M. (1989). Cognitive-behavioural factors and the persistence of intrusive thoughts in obsessional problems. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *27*(6), 677-684. https://doi.org/10.1016/0005-7967(89)90152-6
- Salkovskis, P. M. (Ed.). (1996). Frontiers of cognitive therapy. The Guilford Press.
- Shapiro, L. J. (2020). *Obsessive compulsive disorder: Elements, history, treatments, and research.*Praeger/ABC-CLIO.
- Shavitt, R. G., van den Heuvel, O. A., Lochner, C., Reddy, Y. C. J., Miguel, E. C., & Simpson, H. B. (2022).

 Editorial: Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder (OCD) across the lifespan: Current diagnostic challenges and the search for personalized treatment. *Frontiers in Psychiatry, 13*, Article e927184. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2022.927184.
- Sheehan, D. V., Lecrubier, Y., Sheehan, K. H., Amorim, P., Janavs, J., Weiller, E., Hergueta, T., Baker, R., & Dunbar, G. C. (1998). The Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (MINI): The development and validation of a structured diagnostic psychiatric interview for DSM-IV and ICD-10. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, *59*(Suppl. 20), 22–33.
- Spengler, P. M., Lee, N. A., Wiebe, S. A., & Wittenborn, A. K. (2022). A comprehensive meta-analysis on the efficacy of emotionally focused couple therapy. *Couple and Family Psychology: Research and Practice*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1037/cfp0000233
- Szepsenwol, O., Shahar, B., & Doron, G. (2016). Letting it linger: Exploring the longitudinal effects of

- relationship-related obsessive-compulsive phenomena. *Journal of Obsessive-Compulsive and Related Disorders, 11,* 101-104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocrd.2016.10.001
- Tinella, L., Lunardi, L., Rigobello, L., Bosco, A., & Mancini, F. (2023). Relationship Obsessive Compulsive

 Disorder (R-OCD): The role of relationship duration, fear of guilt, and personality traits. *Journal*of Obsessive-Compulsive and Related Disorders, 37, Article e100801.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocrd.2023.100801
- Toroslu, B., & Çırakoğlu, O. C. (2022). Do perfectionism and intolerance of uncertainty mediate the relationship between early maladaptive schemas and relationship and partner related obsessive—compulsive symptoms? *Current Psychology, 42*(22), 19037-19053. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-022-03050-w
- Trak, E. (2016). Hatırlanan ebeveyn ilgisi, yetişkin bağlanma biçimleri ve partnere bağlı benlik değerinin romantik ilişki ve partner temalı obsesif kompulsif bozukluk semptomları ile ilişkisi [The relationship of recalled parental care, adult attachment styles, partner contingent self worth with relationship centered and partner focused obsessive compulsive symptoms] (Publication No. 449569). [Master's thesis, Hacettepe Üniversitesi]. DSpace@Hacettepe (Hacettepe Üniversitesi Açık Erişim Sistemi). https://acikbilim.yok.gov.tr/handle/20.500.12812/463584
- Trak, E., & İnözü, M. (2017). Yeni bir obsesif-kompulsif semptom içeriði: Romantik ýliþki obsesyon ve kompulsiyonlarý ölçeði ile partnere ýliþkin obsesif-kompulsif belirti ölçeði'nin Türkçe formlarýnýn psikometrik özellikleri [A new obsessive-compulsive symptom type: The psychometric properties of the Turkish forms of relationship obsessions and compulsions inventory and partner-related obsessive-compulsive symptoms inventory]. *Klinik Psikiyatri,* 20(3), 171-185. https://doi.org/10.5505/kpd.2017.93063
- Trak, E., & İnözü, M. (2019). Developmental and self-related vulnerability factors in relationshipcentered obsessive compulsive disorder symptoms: A moderated mediation model. *Journal of*

- Obsessive-Compulsive and Related Disorders, 21, 121-128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocrd.2019.03.004
- Tsiugaras, N. (2012). A discourse analytic study of how people self-positioned as having obsessive compulsive disorder construct agency and responsibility in two online fora (Publication No. 27750217) [Doctoral thesis, University of Surrey]. ProQuest Dissertations.

 https://www.proquest.com/dissertations-theses/portfolio-academic-therapeutic-practice-research/docview/2336371045/se-2
- Wiebe, S. A., Elliott, C., Johnson, S. M., Burgess Moser, M., Dalgleish, T. L., Lafontaine, M. F., & Tasca,
 G. A. (2019). Attachment change in emotionally focused couple therapy and sexual satisfaction outcomes in a two-year follow-up study. *Journal of Couple & Relationship Therapy*, 18(1), 1-21. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332691.2018.1481799
- Wiebe, S. A., & Johnson, S. M. (2016). A review of the research in emotionally focused therapy for couples. *Family Process*, *55*(3), 390-407. https://doi.org/10.1111/famp.12229
- Wiebe, S. A., Johnson, S. M., Lafontaine, M. F., Burgess Moser, M., Dalgleish, T. L., & Tasca, G. A. (2017).
 Two-year follow-up outcomes in emotionally focused couple therapy: An investigation of relationship satisfaction and attachment trajectories. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*,
 43(2), 227-244. https://doi.org/10.1111/jmft.12206
- Yıldırım, B. (2017). The influence of attachment styles, personality characteristics, social comparison,

 and reassurance seeking on ROCD symptoms [Master's thesis, Middle East Technical University.]

 OpenMETU. http://etd.lib.metu.edu.tr/upload/12621105/index.pdf
- Yıldırım, B. (2018). *Beliren tetişkinlikte romantik İlişki temalı ve eş odaklı obsesif kompulsif belirtilerin gelişimsel yordayıcıları: Özerklik, bağlanma ve mükemmeliyetçilik* [Developmental predictors of romantic relationship-themed and partner-focused obsessive-compulsive symptoms in emerging adulthood: Autonomy, attachment, and perfectionism] [Master's thesis, Hacettepe

Üniversitesi]. Hacettepe Üniversitesi Açık Erişim Sistemi (HÜAES). https://openaccess.hacettepe.edu.tr/xmlui/handle/11655/5028

Yılmaz, M. (2015). Psychometric properties of the Turkish versions of the relationship-related obsessive compulsive inventory and the partner-focused obsessive compulsive symptoms inventory (Publication No. 405518) [Master's thesis, Doğuş Üniversitesi]. DSpace@Doğuş (Doğuş Üniversitesi Institutional Repository). https://acikbilim.yok.gov.tr/handle/20.500.12812/605860